Effects of Nitric Oxide and Hydrogen Peroxide on antioxidant enzyme activity in *Zea mays* subjected to drought



A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Magister Scientiae in the Department of Biotechnology, University of the Western Cape.

Supervisor: Prof. Ndiko Ludidi

November 2021

Keywords

Zea mays

Reactive Oxygen Species

Nitric Oxide

Drought stress

Antioxidant enzyme



Effects of Nitric Oxide and Hydrogen Peroxide on antioxidant enzyme activity in *Zea mays* subjected to drought

N Kopana

MSc Thesis, Department of Biotechnology, University of the Western Cape



Agricultural practices are significantly affected by drought. Drought is one of the most important plant stresses, causing several physiological, morphological, biochemical, and molecular changes in plants. Drought stress is of great challenge for crop growth, development and yield. Zea mays (maize) is one of the important crops worldwide due to the nutritional profile and other uses such as human consumption, manufacturing and animal feed. Under unfavorable conditions, plants produce high amounts of reactive oxygen species (ROS). Excessive formation of ROS is harmful for plant survival and can induce cell death. Defense mechanisms activated in response to drought in plants include antioxidant enzyme activity and proline accumulation. There is evidence of the use of nitric oxide (NO) donors and hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) at low concentrations to enhance the activity of antioxidant enzymes in stressed plants. Hence, the aim of the study is to examine the role of NO and H₂O₂ in regulation of antioxidant enzyme activity in maize subjected to water deficit. This was achieved by pretreatment of maize plants with a NOS inhibitor (N_{ω} -Nitro-L-arginine methyl ester, L-NAME) and H_2O_2 scavenger dimethylthiourea (DMTU) to alter the amount of NO and H_2O_2 in plant tissue under water-deprived conditions. Also, an NO donor (DETA/NO) was exogenously applied to examine NO effects in these plants. H₂O₂ was applied under well-watered conditions to assess the influence of H₂O₂ on endogenous NO levels. The effects of L-NAME and DMTU on H₂O₂ levels were evaluated. Moreover, the effects of DMTU on levels of NO were investigated. Lastly, effects of NO and H_2O_2 on antioxidant enzyme activity were assessed. Application of DMTU and L-NAME changed enzymatic activity of catalase, ascorbate peroxidase and superoxide dismutase. These alterations on enzymatic activities corresponded with changes in H_2O_2 levels. These results deduce that H_2O_2 acts upstream on NO generation, as suggested by the decline in NO content upon application of DMTU. The inhibition of NO production by L-NAME had no effects in accumulation of H_2O_2 and the application of H_2O_2 induced NO accumulation.



DECLARATION

I declare that "*Effects of nitric oxide and hydrogen peroxide on antioxidant enzyme activity in Zea mays subjected to drought*" is my own work, that it has not been submitted for any degree or examination in any other university, and that all the sources I have used or quoted have been indicated and acknowledged by complete references.



Acknowledgements

- I would like to thank my heavenly Father for granting me courage and strength for life and pursuit of this study.
- I would also like to pass my gratitude to my supervisor Professor Ndiko Ludidi for his patience and guidance.
- Thank you to Prof Marshall Keyster for his assistance with nitric oxide assay analysis.
- To the Plant Biotechnology Group many thanks for the assistance when needed especially to Nandipha Duba, Ali Elibashier and Kyle Phillips.
- I also appreciate the financial assistance from the departmental bursary and the University of the Western Cape.



Abbreviations

ABA	Abscisic acid
APX	Ascorbate peroxidase
Atrboh	Arabidopsis transcript levels of respiratory burst oxidase homolog
AsA	Ascorbate
AsA-GSH	Ascorbate-glutathione cycle
CAT:	Catalase
Ca ²⁺	Calcium
CEC:	Crop estimate committee
cGMP	cyclic guanosine monophosphate
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide
СТК	Cytokinin
Cu/Zn-SOD	Copper/Zinc superoxide dismutase
Cys	Cysteine
DAFF:	Department of Forestry and fishing
DETA/NO	Diethylenetriamine/ nitric oxide
DHAR	Dehydroascorbate reductase
DMTU	Dimethylthiourea
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ETC	Electron transport chain
FAD	Flavin adenine dinucleotide
FAO	Food and Agricultural Organisation of the United States
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
Fe-SOD	Ion superoxide dismutase
GA	Gibberellic acid
GDC	Glycine decarboxylase
GDP	Gross domestic product
GSH	Glutathione
GSSG	Glutathione disulfide
vi	http://etd.uwc.ac.za/

GR	Glutathione reductase
HbO ₂	Oxyhemoglobin
L-Arg	L-arginine
L-NAME	N(G)-Nitro-L-arginine methyl ester
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MDA	Malondialdehyde
MDHAR	Monodehydroascorbate Reductase (MDHAR)
MetHb	Methemoglobin
Mn-SOD	Manganese superoxide dismutase
NAD(P)H	Reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NiNOR	plasma membrane-bound nitrite-NO reductase
NO	Nitric oxide
NOS	Nitric oxide synthase
NOSI	Nitric oxide synthase-like
NOX	NADPH oxidase
NR	Nitrate reductase
OH.	hydroxyl radical
¹ O ₂	Singlet oxygen
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PCD	Programmed cell dead
PSI	photosystem I
PSII	Photosystem II
PUFAs	Polyunsaturated fatty acids
PVP	Polyvinylpyrolidone
Rbohs	Respiratory burst oxidase homologs
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RWC	Relative water content
S.A	South Africa
SNO	S-nitrosothiol
vii	http://etd.uwc.ac.za/

SOD	Superoxide dismutase
SNP	Sodium Nitroprusside
ТВА	Thiobarbituric
TBARS	Thiobarbituric acid reactive substance
ТСА	Trichloroacetic acid
TEMED	N,N,N',N'- Tetramethylethylenediamine
TRX	Reduced thioredoxin
UQ	Ubiquinone
USA	United States of America
WD	Water deficit
WHO	World Health Organisation
WW	Well-watered
XOR	Xanthine oxido-reductase
	TINIVED SITV ALA
	UNIVERSITIOJ INC
	WESTERN CAPE

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Area planted and producer price between 2012/13-2016/176
Figure 1.2 Areas affected by drought in 2018 in South Africa8
Fig. 1.3 Pathways in the univalent reduction of O ₂ to water leading to the formation of various
intermediate reactive oxygen species13
Figure 1.4 Main sources of H ₂ O ₂ in different cellular compartments of mesophyll cells during C3
photosynthesis
Figure 1.5: the mechanism by which hydrogen peroxide is removed on different cellular
compartments through antioxidant defense system22
Figure 1.6 electron transportation on different cellular compartment which lead to the
production of Proline in the plant cell25
Figure 1.7 Different NO production pathways and signaling interactions between NO and H_2O_2
induced by stress
Figure 1.8 NO signaling in plants
Figure 1.9 plants response on drought stress, accumulation and scavenging of ROS and
interaction of ROS and nitric oxide34
Figure 3.1 Representation of oxidative stress effects on maize seedlings under water deficit and
various treatments42
Figure 3.2 : The degree of cell death in maize seedlings, supplied with water and those deprived of water

Figure 3.4 Malondialdehyde content in leaves and roots of water-deprived maize seedlings.	.47
Figure 3.5 Proline levels in water-deprived maize seedlings	.48
Figure 3.6 NO content in maize seedlings under various treatments	50
Figure 3.7 Effects of various treatments on SOD enzymatic activity in maize leaves	51
Figure 3.8 The effect of various treatments on SOD enzymatic activity in maize roots	52
Figure 3.9 In-gel activity for APX in response to various treatments	55
Figure 3.10 In-gel activity of APX isozymes in response to the various treatments	57
Figure 3.11 Response of catalase activity to application of H_2O_2 NO donor, H_2O_2 scavenger an NO Inhibitors	d 58



Table of contents

KEYWORDS	i
ABSTRACT	ii
DECLARATION	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMEN	TSv
ABBREVIATION	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
TABLE OF CONTENTS	sxi
CHAPTER 1: LITERATU	JIRE REVIEW1
1.0 Introduction	
1.1 Importance	ce and production of maize2
1.2 Drought descripti	on and impacts6
1.2.1	Drought effects on maize and development9
1.3 Production of rea	ctive oxygen species in plant cell11
1.3.1	Exogenous application of hydrogen peroxide14
1.3.2	Abscisic acid - induced H ₂ O ₂ production15
1.3.3	Hydrogen peroxide scavenger15
1.3.4	Sites of ROS production in plant cells16
1.3.5	Lipid peroxidation18
1.3.6	Plant programmed cell death19
1.4 Antioxidant defer	nse system20

1.4.1	Catalase	21
1.4.2	Ascorbate peroxidase	21
1.4.3	Superoxide dismutase	23
1.4.4	Monodehydroascorbate reductase	23
1.4.5	Glutathione reductase2	24
1.5 Proline Bio	osynthesis	24
1.5.1	proline accumulation during water stress2	26
1.6 Nitric oxid	e2	26
1.6.1	Nitric oxide enzymatic biosynthesis	27
1.6.2	Nitric oxide as a signaling molecule2	28
1.6.3	Defense role of nitric oxide in plants	30
1.6.4	Nitric oxide role in plant programmed cell death	30
1.6.5	Nitric oxide and abiotic stress	31
1.6.6	Signaling interaction	32
1.6.7	Hydrogen peroxide and nitric oxide interactions	33
CHAPTER 2: MATERIA	ALS AND METHODS	35
2.1 Seed germination	n and growth of Zea mays	35
2.2 Plant treatments.		\$5
2.3 Evaluation of Cell	viability on Maize Leaves	36
2.4 Measurement of	Relative Water Content3	\$7
2.5 Metabolite extrac	tion	37

2.6 Determination of Lipid Peroxidation	37
2.7 Determination of H ₂ O ₂ content	38
2.8 Protein Extraction and concentration determination	38
2.9 Determination of Proline Content	38
2. 10 Nitric oxide measurement	39
2.11 Detection of antioxidant enzyme activity in maize using native gels	39
2.11.1 APX activity	39
2.11.2 Superoxide Dismutase activity	40
2.11.3 Catalase activity	40
2.12 Statistical Analysis	41
CHAPTER 3: RESULTS	41
3.1 Effects of the chemical treatment on water stress responses in maize seedlings	41.
3.1.1 Water status is altered by the various treatments	41
stress	42
3.1.3 Exogenous application of a H_2O_2 scavenger and NO donor reduced accumulation ir	า
maize leaves during drought stress	44
3.1.4 MDA accumulates higher in leaves than roots of maize seedlings subjected to	
drought	45
3.1.5 Proline content during water deficit stress in maize	47
3.1.6 Responses of maize seedlings to exogenous application of nitric oxide and changes	
prompted by various treatments during water stress	48

3.2 Role of NO and H_2O_2 in the regulation of antioxidant enzyme activity during water deficit	
stress in maize leaf seedlings	.50
3.2.1 Superoxide dismutase isoform activity in response to various treatments	.50
3.2.2 Changes in root SOD isoforms activity in response to various treatments	51
3.2.3 Response of ascorbate peroxidase to various treatments in maize leaves	.53
3.4 Modulation of NO and H_2O_2 influences ascorbate peroxidase activity	55
3.5 Catalase response on various treatments in maize leaves during water stress	.57
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	.59
4.1 Drought stress reduces water status in maize	.59
4.2 Osmolyte accumulation induced water retention on maize seedlings	.59
4.3 Oxidative stress induced under water stress conditions on maize and responses to chemic	cal
treatments	.60
4.4 Changes in cell viability on water-deprived maize seedling under various treatments	.61
4.5 NO reduces water stress effects on maize plants	.62
4.6 Drought stress induced antioxidant enzyme activity in maize	63
4.7 NO and H ₂ O ₂ inhibition reduced antioxidant enzyme activity under water stress	64
4.8 Conclusion & Future Aspects	65
CHAPTER 5: REFERENCES	.67

Chapter 1

Literature review

1.0 Introduction

Unfavorable dry weather conditions have significant harmful effects on crop physiology and agricultural yield. This may be a result of an excessive increase in temperature and a shift in rainfall patterns, especially a decline in precipitation (Belle et al., 2015). Moreover, in the semiarid region of South Africa where three major maize producing provinces are situated, maize yield deteriorates during harsh drought resulting in explicit economic crisis. Thus, it has become a major issue to understand responses and adaptation of maize to drought. Maize is a fundamental food and forage crop (Challinor, Wheel et al., 2007). It is one of the major valuable crops worldwide. With the population expansion in South Africa and climate change, the necessity for crop supply has heightened (Challinor , Wheel et al., 2007), so it is essential to advance maize yield even under unfavourable conditions (NDMC., et al., 2012).

Water deficit promotes plant plasma membrane injury and elevates production of free radicals in plants cells (Iturbe-Ormaetxe et al., 1998). During normal plant growth, reactive oxygen species (ROS) are generated but their accumulation increases during abiotic stress (Møller et al., 2001). Examples of ROS include the superoxide radical (O_2^-), hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and the hydroxyl radical (OH⁻) (Sharma et al., 2012). Therefore, cell death may result when the plant suffers abiotic stress (Iturbe-Ormaetxe et al., 1998). Nonetheless, ROS play an essential role in plant intracellular redox signaling (Siddiqui et al., 2010). Therefore, it is vital to control the concentration of ROS in plant cells. As a reaction to oxidative stress, antioxidant enzymes are activated to reduce oxidative damage either by detoxifying ROS or preventing their excessive accumulation (Sun et al. 2003; Wang et al. 2002; Sharma et al., 2012). This defense system includes the enzymatic antioxidants such as the superoxide dismutase (SOD) which catalyses the dismutation of O_2^- to produce H_2O_2 (Gupta et al., 1993). H_2O_2 is further scavenged to water and oxygen by enzymes

such as catalase, glutathione peroxidase and the antioxidant enzymes of the ascorbateglutathion cycle (Sharma et al., 2012).

In addition, the use of exogenously applied NO donors has been shown to enhance plant tolerance to several abiotic stress including drought (Garcia-Mata and Lamattina, 2001), salinity (Zhao et al., 2004) and heat (Uchida et al., 2002). NO has antioxidant properties that maintain cellular redox homeostasis and limit ROS toxicity, protecting plants from oxidative damage (Qiao and Fan, 2008). As a signaling molecule, NO regulates the expression of antioxidant genes (Qiao and Fan, 2008) that detoxify ROS and thus enhance stress tolerance. The signaling interactions between nitric oxide and the antioxidant defense system are relevant approaches used to enhance abiotic stress tolerance in plants (Laspina ., et al 2005). Due to the major impact drought has on crop production, for plant breeders and researchers it has been of great interest to elucidate plant behavior when exposed to both biotic and abiotic stresses, with the purpose to improve plant tolerance to harsh environmental conditions, and therefore minimize the decrease in crop production.

This chapter will discuss the effects of drought on maize production and yield. It will review plant responses to abiotic stress and the interaction of signaling pathways mediated by nitric oxide and ROS in plants during oxidative stress. Lastly, it will explain NO and H₂O₂ effects in the activation of antioxidant defense system in plants.

1.1 Importance and production of maize

Our food source heavily depends on crops, yet agricultural production is greatly affected by drought (Kadam et al., 2014). With global climate change and uncertainties in precipitation patterns, food security has become more vulnerable than in the past (FAO, 2008), yet few economically viable approaches exist to support crop production under drought (Li et al., 2000). Despite ongoing breeding efforts to develop drought-resistant cultivars (Bennett et al., 2013), prolonged droughts in the food-insecure regions may cause famine, epidemics, and deaths, generate water crisis due to drying up of perennial streams, impact agriculture-based livelihood systems, food security and overall economic development (Karim and Rahman., 2011).

Amongst many crops grown in South Africa maize (*Zea mays*) is one of the staple foods. Maize belongs to the family *Poaceae* (*Gramineae*) and the tribe *Maydeae* (Sikandar *et al.*, 2007). In terms of global production, it is the third most important cereal, after wheat and rice, respectively. It is one of the staple food crops of the world and the staple cash crop of southern Africa (Burtt-Davy, 1914). About half of its global production is in developing countries, where maize flour (mealie-meal) is the staple food. It also has many diversified uses which include starch products, corn oil, baby foods and popcorn (Ranum et al., 2014).

According to the Crop Estimate Committee (CEC), the agricultural sector in South Africa contributes significantly to the economy of the country (Ranum et al., 2014). Agriculture has a high impact on the South African economy as it comes with a dual farming economy, a well-developed profitable farming as well as the substance-based production of crops within the profound rural areas (Olaleye et al., 2010). Maize farming has been one of the occupations of most indigenous people in Southern Africa. The first known proof of maize is the fossil of pollen grains which are approximately 80,000 years in age and that are nearly similar to the recent maize pollen (Ranum et al., 2014).

Most of the maize produced is consumed locally, therefore; the domestic market is very important to the industry. Maize is produced in most of South Africa (S.A) with Free State, Mpumalanga and North West provinces being the largest producers, accounting for over four-fifths of total production (BFAP, 2017). Maize is produced mostly on dry land with less than 10% produced under irrigation. The rainfall pattern and other weather conditions of a particular season determine the planting period as well as the length of the growing season. Maize is planted mainly between mid-October and mid-December. About 60% of maize produced in S.A has been white and the other 40% yellow maize (Department of Agriculture Fishing and Forestry, 2015). BFAP (2016, 2017) expects this to have changed by 2021, with farmers shifting towards yellow maize and oilseeds. Yellow maize is easy to trade globally (BFAP, 2017).

White maize is primarily for human consumption. Yellow maize is the most important ingredient in feed rations for dairy, beef, poultry and egg production (Ranum et al., 2014). The ratio between human consumption and animal feed is expected to change owing to patterns in the demand by

animal feed, and the growing middle-class population. The maize industry is important to the economy both as an employer and earner of foreign currency because of its multiplier effects (maize also serves as a raw material for manufactured products such as paper, paint, textiles and medicine). The local consumption requirements for maize are usually around 7 million tons per year (DAFF., 2017)

The maize industry has strong linkages throughout the economy, both upstream to the input industries and downstream into milling, animal feed and food processing industries (Ranum, et al., 2014). Maize hectares vary from year to year, depending on weather and market conditions, but on average approximately 2.5 to 2.75 million hectares of hybrid maize are planted in S.A each year, as reported by the Department of Agricultural fisheries and forestry. Approximately 10 to 12 million tons of maize is produced in South Africa annually (ABSA, 2017). Illustrated on Table 1 and 2 is that South Africa's food security status has improved, according to the Global Food Security Index released by the Economist Intelligence Unit (EIU) and commissioned by DuPont. S.A is the 47th most food secure country in the world, and the highest ranked in Africa. On a tenyear average, maize for human consumption totals about 4.1 million tons, animal feed about 3.9 million tons, while starch- and glucose-manufacturing industries consume about 650 000 tons of maize annually. Feed production in S.A is estimated at more than 11 million tons per annum. On a five-year average, S.A normally has approximately 1.8 million tons surplus maize for the export markets (BFAP, 2017).

The two main white maize-growing provinces in S.A, Free State and North West provinces, produced about 78% of the white maize harvest in 2017, whereas the Free State and Mpumalanga provinces produced about 67% of the yellow maize harvest. Drought has had a significant impact on agriculture, livelihoods and communities. Estimates are an economic loss of R5.9 billion in agriculture in the Western Cape alone, with a resultant 30 000 job losses and exports dropping 13-20%. This is due to reduced farming outputs and additional income losses as export volumes decline (DAFF., 2017). Many hectares of productive fruit trees and vineyards have been removed ahead of the normal replanting schedule due to the lack of available water as well as to prevent disease and pests from spreading. Stock farmers have also suffered heavy

losses. As a result, many agricultural businesses risk bankruptcy. Finally, the impact of increased water tariffs is adding to the need to ensure optimal water efficiency on farms (DAFF, 2018).

a)





b)

Maize imports and exports 2012/13–2016/17



Figure 1.1 Presentation of a) maize production, area planted and producer price between 2012/13-2016/17 and b) exports and imports in South Africa in the same period, adapted from DAFF 2017 report.

1.2 Drought description and impacts

Drought is often characterized as slow-onset natural hazards whose impacts are complex and reverberate through many sectors of the economy such as water resources, agriculture, and natural ecosystems (Wilhite et al., 2007). Various definitions of drought, all relating to specific drought impacts on economic activities, ecosystems, and society and water management issues (Tate et al., 2000). A review by Dracup et al. (1980) and Wilhite and Glantz (1985) alluded to drought as a condition of insufficient moisture caused by a deficit in precipitation over some time period. According to Pereira et al (2009), drought can be defined as a temporal imbalance of water availability consisting of a persistent lower than average precipitation of uncertain frequency, duration and unpredictable severity. In Vicente-Serrano et al (2012) drought is described as a natural phenomenon which occurs when water availability is significantly below normal levels over a long period of time and cannot meet demand.

The time lag between the beginning of a period of water scarcity and its impact on socioeconomic and environmental assets is referred to as the timescale of a drought (Ranum et al.,



2014). As a result, drought indices usually consider short-term droughts (three months or less), medium-term droughts (lasting 4–9 months) and long-term droughts (12 months or more). Short-term droughts have an impact on water availability in the vadose zone and therefore are largely meteorological and agricultural droughts. On the other hand, long-term droughts also affect surface and ground water resources and therefore are hydrological drought (Strable et al., 1996)

Droughts often manifest in two folds, a shortage of soil moisture and shortage of water stored in other reservoirs. These two climate parameters are the key drivers of the hydrological cycle (Hisdal, 2000; Mniki, 2009; Olaleye, 2010). A disturbance in any one component or process of the hydrological cycle has impacts on the agricultural cycle. To this end, the immediate consequence of drought is a fall in crop production, due to inadequate and poorly distributed rainfall (Clay et al., 2003). Drought occurs in virtually all climatic regions and drought-induced crop yield loss is considered among the greatest losses in agriculture (Olaleye, 2010). Additionally, livestock production is impacted due to low rainfall, which causes poor pasture growth and may also lead to a decline in fodder supplies from crop residues.

Generally, S.A is classified as a semi-arid and water stressed country. The country's average annual rainfall is about 450 mm a year, which is below the world's 860 mm average per year (SAWS, 2018). Rainfall in S.A exhibits seasonal variability, with most rainfall occurring mainly during summer months (November through March) (DAFF, 2017). However, in the southwest region of the country, rainfall occurs in winter months (May through August). S.A experiences rainfall that varies significantly from west to east. Figure 1.2 indicates variation in rainfall received by provinces across the 6 months period in 2018. Annual rainfall in the northwest region often remains below 200 mm, whereas much of the eastern Highveld receives between 500 mm and 900 mm (occasionally exceeding 2000 mm) of rainfall per annum. The central part of the country receives about 400 mm of rain per annum, with wide variations occurring closer to the coast. Most regions receiving 400 mm of rainfall play a significant role, e.g., land to the east are suitable for growing crops while land to the west are suitable for livestock grazing as well as crop cultivation on irrigated land. The Free State and North West Provinces fall within regions that

receive less than 500 mm of rainfall per year and play an important role towards the South African economy.



Figure 1.2 Illustration of areas affected by drought in 2018 within a period of six month in South Africa, picture depicted from ARC report 2018.

Rainfall decrease is one of the major environmental challenges faced by SA. According to the S.A weather report, year 2016/2017 were recorded as one of the years in history that drought has been most severe. The decrease on rainfall had a huge impact on the crop production and yield which automatically affected the economy (Mniki ., 2009). Poor crop yield is a result of seasonal rainfall being below than normal, which also cause ground and dam water levels to fall critically low. When such conditions continue to occur time to recover natural resources and the economy

is insufficient between rainfall-deficit periods. Drought had a very negative impact on commercial farming around 1991/1992 in S.A (Ngaka et al ., 2011). This was a result of low rainfall and inadequate capacity of range lands to support grazing and shortage of drinking water for livestock. Although the Agricultural sector contributes minimal to the Gross Domestic Product (GDP), it plays a very essential role in wealth creation in S.A especially in rural areas, employing more than one million people (IFRC., 2011).

Economies of many countries in sub-Saharan Africa are particularly vulnerable to the effects of drought because they depend on rain-fed agriculture, and low levels of income per capita. In 2007/2008, the government of South Africa spent R285 Million on drought relief, of which R20 Million and R25 Million were allocated to the Eastern Cape and the Free State provinces, respectively (Ngaka et al., 2011).

1.2.1 Drought effects on maize growth and development

Plant demand for water varies across the tissues and across the growth phases in the same species of a crop plant, and maize is no exception (Zhu et al., 2002). Evaluation of the maximum amount of water that plants need is essential to resolve water shortage in plants (Zhu et al., 2002). At early growth stages of maize the demand for water is low then it increases at the productive stages and during terminal growth stages water requirement decreases again (Dash et al., 2001). During reproductive growth stage, maize requires 8-9 mm of water each day per plant. Regarding water requirements, studies estimate that four weeks are most crucial, which includes two weeks before and two weeks after pollination (Pannar et al., 2012). Drought stress reduces growth rate during vegetative growth stages of maize, especially at V1–V5 stages, and prolong the vegetative growth stage. This reduces the duration of the reproductive growth stage (Pannar et al., 2012). In the mid-80s, relative water content (RWC) was introduced as an indication of plant water status which, afterwards, was used instead of plant water potential. As RWC refers to its relation with cell volume, it is able to indicate the balance between absorbed water by plant and consumed through transpiration. Osmoregulation appears to be one of the main mechanisms preserving turgor pressure in most plant species against water loss from the plant so, it causes the plant to continue water absorption and retain metabolic activities

(Gunasekera and Berkowitz, 1992). Zlato Stoyanov (2005) found that by exerting drought stress for 14 days and reaching soil water potential to -0.9 MPa, osmotic potential and turgor pressure in the first leaf of bean was strongly decreased. Ramos et al (2003) stated that RWC of bean leaves under drought stress was significantly less than the control. Lazacano-Ferrat and Lovat (1999) subjected bean plants to drought stress and evaluated RWC of the stem and found that RWC was significantly lower compared to control plants (Gaballah et al., 2007). Plants grown under water-limited conditions undergo various adaptive mechanisms to reduce stress, including extensive root system modification to enhance water uptake, alterations to leaf size or leaf rolling, modification in cuticle permeability, developing a waxy layer or spongy tissue, and reduced stomata size to avoid water evaporation. These tolerance adaptation mechanisms are commonly classified as drought escape, drought recovery, and drought avoidance (Bartels et al., 2005).

All maize developmental stages from germination to harvest maturity including seedling establishment, vegetative growth and reproductive growth stages are prone to drought stress (Du Plessis et al., 2003). Maize grain size is greater than other cereals and therefore requires more water for maintenance of osmotic potential and conversion of stored food into consumable form and for proper germination (Gharoobi et al., 2012). Survival under stressful conditions depends on the plant's ability to perceive the stimulus, generate and transmit the appropriate signals and initiate various physiological and biochemical changes. Plants respond and adapt to water stress by altering their cellular metabolism and invoking various defense mechanisms (Zhu 2002, Boudsocq and Laurière 2005; Chae et al., 2009). The plant hormone Abscisic Acid, as a stress signal, increases as a result of water deficit stress and plays crucial roles in the regulation of plant water balance and osmotic stress tolerance (Zhu et al., 2002). The accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) under abiotic stress increases during drought stress and therefore can become harmful for the plant.

1.3 Production of Reactive Oxygen Species in Plant Cell

The production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) highly depends on the availability of oxygen. Molecular oxygen was introduced to the early reducing atmosphere of the earth about 2.7 billion

years ago by oxygen-evolving photosynthetic organisms, causing the advent of ROS as toxic byproducts (Halliwell et al., 2006).

In the past years, it has been demonstrated that ROS performs a vital signaling role in plants; processes such as growth, development and especially response to biotic and abiotic stimuli (Foyer et al., 2005). When the delicate balance between ROS production and elimination important for normal cellular homeostasis is disturbed, cellular damages are manifested in the form of degradation of biomolecules like pigments, proteins, lipids, carbohydrates, and DNA, which ultimately amalgamate in plant cellular death. The survival of plants therefore depends on many important factors like change in growth conditions, severity and duration of stress conditions and the capacity of the plants to quickly adapt to changing energy balance (Miller et al., 2010). The most important members of the ROS family include free radicals like superoxide anion (O_2^-), hydroxyl ion (OH) and non-radicals like hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) and singlet oxygen (¹O₂).

Singlet oxygen (${}^{1}O_{2}$) is the highly reactive, excited state of molecular oxygen that can be formed in a reaction between O_{2} and the chlorophyll triplet state (Krieger-Liszkay., 2000 and Gill. 2010). Under normal conditions, ${}^{1}O_{2}$ is generated during photosynthesis by the photo-activation of photosensitizers, mainly chlorophylls and their precursors (Krieger-Liszkay. 2005). Singlet oxygen is also generated during senescence and under different abiotic stresses (Pospisil. 2007). Similar to other ROS, ${}^{1}O_{2}$ has a dual effect (Morker et al., 2011). As an oxidizing agent, it can react with various biological molecules (Albores et al., 2011), causing damage and leading to cell death. It can also play a signaling role by activating the expression of various genes (Kin et al., 2008). Singlet oxygen interacts with molecules mostly in its nearest environment because of its short half-life that ranges between 3.1 to 3.9 μ s in pure water (Krasnovsky. 1998). The diffusion distance of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ has been calculated to be up to 10 nm in a physiologically relevant situation (Fischer et al., 2007).

One other member of the ROS family is superoxide anion. The primary source of superoxide anion in chloroplasts are Mehler reactions, during which O_2 is reduced by electrons from the photosynthetic electron transport chain (Allen et al., 1973). Generated O_2^- is then converted to

 H_2O_2 , mostly by the action of Cu/ZnSOD, as illustrated in Figure 1.3 (Asada et al., 2006). Therefore, superoxide dismutase (SOD) determines the lifetime of O_2^- in cells and the probability of its involvement in biochemical processes. Furthermore, O_2^- is a moderately reactive, short-lived ROS with a half-life of approximately 2–4 µs, and it cannot cross the chloroplast membrane (Takahashi and Asada., 1983). However, chloroplasts are not the only sites of O_2^- production. In peroxisomes, O_2^- is generated by two different sources: in the peroxisomal matrix via xanthine oxidase (Sandolia et al., 1988) and by electron transport chain (ETC) in the peroxisome membrane (Del and Donaldson., 1995). Peroxisomes can be considered as an important source of signaling molecules since they have capacity to rapidly produce and scavenge H_2O_2 and O_2^- due to the presence of many antioxidants in these organelles.

Another important source of O_2^- in plant cells are NADPH oxidases (NOX), commonly known as respiratory burst oxidase homologs (Rbohs) in plants, which catalyze the production of O_2^- (Kaur and Fluhr et al., 2014). Plant Rbohs have been intensively studied recently since they play key roles in many physiological processes, such as ROS signaling and stress responses (Kwak et al., 2003). Finally, O_2^- is also produced in the cytosol by xanthine dehydrogenase and the aldehyde oxidase (Zarepour et al., 2010). Numerous studies have reported an increase in the production of O_2^- during natural and artificially induced senescence (McRae et al., 1983); however, attributing a specific signaling role to this increase is extremely difficult since the increase in most cases is accompanied by the production of other ROS and the quick conversion of O_2^- to H₂O₂.

Another ROS member is hydrogen peroxide, a moderately reactive ROS formed when O_2^- undergoes both univalent reduction as well as protonation. It can be produced both enzymatic by being dismutated to H_2O_2 under low pH conditions, or mostly by a reaction catalyzed by SOD. H_2O_2 is produced in plant cells not only under normal conditions, but also from oxidative stress (Sharma et al., 2012). Due to stomatal closure and low availability of CO_2 and its limited fixation, Ribulose 1-5-bisphosphate (RuBP) oxygenation is favored and thus photo-respiration is enhanced. This accounts for more than 70% of the H_2O_2 produced as a result of drought stress (Noctor et al., 2002). H_2O_2 in plants has a dual role as it is beneficial at low concentrations to act as signaling molecules in the regulation of various biological processes but damaging at higher

concentrations in the cell. Due to its significantly longer half-life of 1 ms, compared to other ROS members, it can traverse longer distances and cross plant cell membranes (Bienert et al., 2007). The reaction catalysed by NADPH oxidase uses O_2 to generate superoxide (O_2^-), which is then converted into H_2O_2 by apoplastic superoxide dismutase. Exogenous application of hydrogen peroxide on stressed plants has been reported to have a positive effect depending on the concentration used, the intensity of stress on the plant, physiological conditions, and on the specificities of processes affected by H_2O_2 .





1.3.1 Exogenous application of hydrogen peroxide

The relationship between positive and negative functions performed by H_2O_2 in biological systems suggested by authors are that the application of H_2O_2 at low concentrations could improve plant tolerance to abiotic stresses such as drought, salinity and osmotic (He et al. 2009). Treatment of Arabidopsis or tobacco with H_2O_2 protects the plants from oxidative damages caused by high light intensity (Karpinski et al. 1999; Gechev et al. 2002). Tolerance to high

temperatures was demonstrated after treatment with low concentrations of H_2O_2 in maize seedlings, *Phalaenopsis* and *Vigna radiata* (Prasad et al. 1994; Yu et al. 2002, 2003), and similarly treated potato nodal explants were found to be resistant to high temperature (Foyer et al. 1997; Lopez-Delgado et al. 1998). In these cases, it was established alterations in the activity of several antioxidant enzymes.

Many authors such as (Jing et al. 2009), (Hossain et al., 2013) and (Ashraf et al., 2014) investigated drought tolerance in various plant species after exogenous application of H_2O_2 at low concentrations and priming and found that it increased the activities of antioxidant enzymes, and the levels of AsA and GSH, resulting in lower levels of MDA, H_2O_2 and O_2^- . The dual role of H_2O_2 was confirmed in a study, in which treatment with 600 μ M H_2O_2 caused an increase in the vase life of a cut Oriental × Trumpet hybrid lily Manissa, while concentrations of 800 and 1200 μ M resulted in negative effects. Further evidence that the effects of H_2O_2 are dose dependent comes from a study in which wax apple trees were spray-treated with different concentrations of H_2O_2 under field conditions. Spraying wax apple fruits with 5 and 20 mM of H_2O_2 once a week produced better fruit growth and maximized the yield and quality in comparison with the control and the higher dose of 50 mM H_2O_2 .

In a similar study, Ishibashi et al. (2011) demonstrated that spraying plants with H₂O₂ could lessen the symptoms of drought stress in soybean. The RWC content, photosynthetic rate and stomatal conductance of drought-stressed leaves in plants sprayed with H₂O₂ were all higher than in leaves sprayed with distilled water. During drought stress the accumulation of hydrogen peroxide occurs.

1.3.2 Abscisic acid- induced H₂O₂ production

Abscisic Acid (ABA) accumulation plays an important role in the regulation of NADPH oxidase activity in maize leaves (Jiang et al., 2002c). Moreover, various authors reported that cell wall NADH-peroxidase and diamine oxidase (Lin et al., 2001), and light reaction in chloroplasts (Zhang et al., 2001) may also contribute to ABA-induced production of ROS. Exogenous Application of ABA leads to the production of H_2O_2 in plant tissues (Guan et al. 2000, Pei et al. 2000, Jiang and

Zhang 2001, Zhang et al. 2001, Kwak et al. 2003, Hu et al. 2005). It has been shown that there are two sources of H₂O₂ in *Vicia faba* guard cells in response to ABA, one is the light reaction in chloroplasts, which might be the main regions of H₂O₂ production, and another is the plasma membrane NADPH oxidase (Zhang et al. 2001). Using molecular genetics and cell biological analyses, studies have demonstrated that the AtrbohD and AtrbohF NADPH oxidases are required for production of H₂O₂ during ABA-induced stomatal closure in Arabidopsis guard cells (Kwak et al. 2003). In mesophyll and bundle sheath cells of maize leaves, H₂O₂ accumulation induced by ABA only occurred in the apoplast in the two types of cells, and the greatest accumulation of H₂O₂ was observed in the walls of mesophyll cells facing large intercellular spaces (Hu et al. 2005). It has been shown that ABA-induced H₂O₂ production is involved in the regulation of stomatal closure (Pei et al. 2000, Zhang et al. 2001, Kwak et al. 2003), antioxidant defense (Jiang and Zhang 2002a, Jiang and Zhang 2002b, Jiang and Zhang 2003). High production of ROS disturbs the redox homeostasis in plant cells.

1.3.3 Hydrogen peroxide scavenger

Dimethylthiourea (DMTU) is a small, highly diffusible molecule which may reach intracellular locations and reduce oxidative injury in many biological systems (Lewis et al., 1994). It is a well-known effective scavenger of harmful oxygen metabolites. DMTU scavenges H_2O_2 , O_2^- , and hypochlorous acid *in vitro* (Curtis., 1988). As a result, DMTU may have value as O_2 metabolite scavengers when used alone and/or in conjunction with SOD and/or catalase.

The problems with using DMTU as O_2 metabolite scavengers was in establishing their relative scavenging specificity and determining the mechanisms responsible for their protective effects in biological systems. It was therefore addressed by hypothesizing that reaction of DMTU with O_2 metabolites might cause the consumption of H_2O_2 and that this consumption could eventually be used to help determine the presence and toxicity of O_2 metabolites in biological systems (Parker et al., 1986). The study conducted by (Parker et al., 1986) found that the reaction of H_2O_2 caused DMTU consumption *in vitro*. Aerobic metabolism constantly generates ROS which are confined to the various plant cellular compartments, including the chloroplast, mitochondria and

peroxisomes (Mittler 2002, Noctor et al. 2002, Foyer and Noctor 2003, Bartoli et al. 2004, Luna et al. 2004, Mittler et al. 2004).

1.3.4 Sites of ROS production in plant cells

The photosynthetic electron transport (PET) chain in the chloroplast is liable for H_2O_2 generation. The PET chains comprise a number of enzymes on the reducing side of photosystem I (PSI): Fe–S centers, reduced thioredoxin (TRX), and ferredoxin. These electron transport elements are autooxidizable and under conditions limiting the availability of NADP, superoxide anion radical can be formed (Dat et al., 2000; Foyer & Noctor, 2000). Mehler (1951) reported the photo-reduction of O_2 in chloroplasts and identified H_2O_2 as the reaction product. Later, O_2^- was identified as the primary product of O_2 photo-reduction in thylakoids (Asada et al., 1987). Currently, the 'Mehler reaction' is considered as the primary and the most powerful source of H_2O_2 in chloroplasts, and the rate of O_2 photo-reduction relies on environmental factors (Asada & Takahashi, 1987; Mullineaux & Karpinski, 2002; Logan et al., 2006). H_2O_2 production in chloroplasts is catalyzed by SOD forms containing copper/zinc (Cu/Zn-SOD) or iron (Fe-SOD) in the active site (Alscher et al., 2002). Water oxidation at photosystem II (PSII) and univalent photo-reduction of O_2 in PSI is coupled to both the production and destruction of H_2O_2 by APX.

Appraisals indicate that 1–5% of the total O₂ utilized by the mitochondria is redirected against production of H₂O₂ (Miller et al., 2010). H₂O₂ is the leading ROS in the mitochondria, it is converted to water by APX (Sharma et al., 2012). Mitochondrial ROS production occurs at steady-state levels under normal conditions but is highly amplified under stress conditions (Pastore et al., 2007). Unfavorable conditions affect the tight coupling of ETC and ATP synthesis, leading to over-reduction of electron carriers like the ubiquinone (UQ) pool, thereby generating ROS (Rhoads et al., 2006; Blokhina and Fagerstedt, 2010) as shown in Figure 1.4. To counteract this oxidative stress in the mitochondria, two enzymes, Mitochondrial Alternative Oxidase (AOX) and Mitochondrial SOD (Mn-SOD) are very crucial. The AOX maintains the reduced state of the UQ pool and attenuates the ROS production. Its importance is evident from the fact that Arabidopsis lacking a functional AOX is hyper-sensitive to drought stress and has altered transcription profiles of different components of the antioxidant machinery (Ho et al., 2008).





Peroxisomes are single-membrane-bound spherical microbodies and are the major sites of intracellular H_2O_2 production due to their integral oxidative metabolism (Luis et al., 2006; Palma et al., 2009). They also produce O_2^- , like chloroplasts and mitochondria during various metabolic processes. O_2^- is generated at two different locations, one by the Xanthine oxidase, located in the peroxisomal matrix, which metabolizes both xanthine and hypoxanthine into uric acid and generates O_2^- as a by-product. The second is the NADPH-dependent small ETC, composed of NADH and Cytb localized in the peroxisomal membrane, which utilizes O_2 as the electron acceptor and releases O_2^- into the cytosol. During stressful conditions, when the availability of water is low and stomata remains closed, the ratio of CO_2 to O_2 reduces considerably, which causes increased

photorespiration leading to glycolate formation. This glycolate is oxidized by glycolate oxidase in peroxisomes to release H_2O_2 , making it the leading producer of H_2O_2 during photorespiration (Noctor et al., 2002). Besides, there are other supplemental metabolic processes like β -oxidation of fatty acids, the flavin oxidase pathway and the disproportionation of O_{2^-} radicals for peroxisomal ROS production.

The apoplast is a diffusible space around the plant cell membrane and is responsible for converting the incoming CO_2 into a soluble, diffusible form which enters the cytosol to undergo photosynthesis. At times of adverse environmental conditions, stress signals combined with abscisic acid (ABA) make the apoplast a prominent site for H_2O_2 production (Hu et al., 2006).

1.3.5 Lipid Peroxidation

When ROS level exceed a certain threshold, enhanced lipid peroxidation takes place in both cellular and organellar membranes, which, in turn, affects normal cellular functioning. Lipid peroxidation exacerbates the oxidative stress through production of lipid-derived radicals that themselves can react with and damage proteins and DNA. The level of lipid peroxidation has been widely used as an indicator of ROS-mediated damage to cell membranes under stressful conditions (Sharma et al., 2012). Increased degradation of lipids has been reported in plants growing under environmental stresses. Increased in lipid peroxidation under these stress parallels with increased production of ROS. Malondialdehyde (MDA) is one of the final products of peroxidation of unsaturated fatty acids in phospholipids and is responsible for cell membrane damage (Stadtman. 1986). Two common sites of ROS attack on the phospholipid molecules are the unsaturated double bonds between two carbon atoms and the ester linkage between glycerol and the fatty acid. The polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) present in membrane phospholipids are particularly sensitive to attack by ROS (Sminorff. 1995). A single hydroxyl radical can result in peroxidation of many polyunsaturated fatty acids because the reactions involved in this process are part of a cyclic chain reaction. The thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS) assay is a well-established method for monitoring lipid peroxidation level. MDA forms a 1:2 adduct with thiobarbituric acid (TBA) and can be estimated spectrophotometrically or fluorometrically (Hodges et al., 1999).

1.3.6 Plant Programmed Cell death

The level of stress that a cell is exposed to can be a critical determinant of the ultimate fate of the cell. In a population of cells subjected to low level stresses, the majority will survive. When the cells are subjected to moderate levels of stress, the majority execute Programmed cell death (PCD). PCD has been defined as a sequence of events that lead to the controlled and organized destruction of the cell (Lockshin et al., 2004). It is crucial for defense responses to restrict the spread of pathogens and for proper development of multicellular organisms (Lam, 2004). PCD was initially described in very specific morphological terms (Kerr et al., 1972) and still is characterized by cell shrinkage, nuclear condensation and DNA fragmentation, and eventually the breakup of the cell into 'apoptotic bodies' (Adrain et al., 2001).

The plant cell membrane is made up of lipids and glycoproteins and acts as a physical, protective barrier. The fluidity of the cell membrane is altered when the cell is exposed to stress such as heat. Oxidative stress can damage cell membranes. The ROS associated with oxidative stress can act on membrane lipids to decrease membrane stability. A reliable Evan's blue staining technique was adapted that has been used by many researchers to assess cell death or membrane damage (Smith et al., 1982; Oprisko et al., 1990; Vemanna et al., 2017) for instantly monitoring cell death induced by stress. Evan's blue is an acidic, non-permeating exclusion dye which stains dead or damaged cells. The dye does not enter live cells with stable membranes (Gaff and O'kong'o-ogala, 1971).

1.4 Antioxidative defense system

For optimal functioning of the plant, redox balance needs to be maintained. High concentrations of ROS are harmful for plant growth and development; hence plants carry an active antioxidant defense system to adapt to ROS-induced oxidative stress (Anjum et al., 2011b, c; Ashraf et al., 2015). Antioxidants comprise of two categories, namely enzymatic antioxidants such as ascorbate peroxidase (APX), superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione peroxidase (GPX), catalase (CAT), dehydroascorbate reductase (DHAR), and monodehydroascorbate reductase (MDHAR) and non-enzymatic, ascorbic acid (AsA), dehydroascorbate (DHA), reduced glutathione (GSH).

These antioxidants promote stress tolerance either directly or indirectly in the case of drought (Sharma et al., 2012). Adebayo and Menkir (2015) reported that maintained harvests in maize under drought stress were directly associated with high antioxidant activities. Farooq et al. (2009) also deduced that elevated activities of enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants may promote drought tolerance by minimizing ROS.

Antioxidant enzymes supply cells with a highly active system for detoxifying O_2^- and H_2O_2 . The stability of SOD and the various H_2O_2 -scavenging enzymes in cells is regarded important as it regulates the steady state level of O_2^- and H_2O_2 (Asada et al., 1987 ; Bowler et al. 1991). This study will mainly focus on the activities of the following three antioxidants: catalase, superoxide dismutase and ascorbate peroxidase.

1.4.1 Catalase

In plants, CAT is highly recognized as the primary enzymatic H_2O_2 remover of photosynthetic cells, which convert H_2O_2 into H_2O and O_2 (Scandalios, 1987). CAT mainly occurs in peroxisomes and catalyzes the dismutation reaction without requiring any reductant. The active CAT enzyme is a tetrameric iron porphyrin protein CAT scavenges H_2O_2 generated during mitochondrial electron transport, β -oxidation of the fatty acids, and most importantly in photo respiratory oxidation (Scandalios et al., 1997). Catalase activity is a determining factor for the protection of photosynthetic cells against oxidative stress induced during abiotic stress conditions such as chilling, drought, salt and ozone. CAT isoforms are distinguished on the basis of organ specificity and responses to environmental stress (Willekens et al., 1994a). It has been suggested that a CAT isoform in maize mitochondria (Scandalios et al., 1980), but no mitochondrial form has been reported in C₃ species (Foyer and Noctor 2000).

Peroxisomes contain a large amount of CAT, but its features suggest that the enzyme is inefficient in removing low concentrations of H_2O_2 (Willekens et al. 1994a; Noctor et al., 2000).These enzymes allow low steady state levels to prevail in order to sustain redox signaling pathways without causing oxidative stress (Noctor et al., 1998). Catalase activities decrease under conditions that suppress photorespiration, such as increased CO_2 (Azevedo et al., 1998).

1.4.2 Ascorbate peroxidase

Ascorbate peroxidase is the main enzyme important for H_2O_2 removal in the chloroplast, peroxisomes and mitochondria. APX utilizes ascorbate as its specific electron donor to reduce H_2O_2 to water (Asada., 1992). It mostly scavenges H_2O_2 in the cytosol and chloroplast of the plant cell. APX is broadly dispersed across the cell compartments and also has higher affinity of H_2O_2 therefore a most effective scavenger for H_2O_2 , and therefore a most effective scavenger of H_2O_2 under stress. The ascorbate–glutathione cycle represents the main pathway to limit the build-up of toxic levels of H_2O_2 in photosynthetic organisms. The different affinities of the two enzymes for H_2O_2 (µm range for APX and mM range for CAT) suggest that they belong to functionally different classes of H_2O_2 scavenging enzymes.


Figure 1.5: schematic diagram representing the mechanism by which hydrogen peroxide is removed on different cellular compartments through antioxidant defense system (Guller et al., 2010).

1.4.3 Superoxide dismutase

SOD belongs to a class of metalloproteins, which catalyze the dismutation of superoxide (O₂⁻) into molecular oxygen and H₂O₂ (Alscher et al., 2002) The hydrogen peroxide must then be reduced by CAT or peroxidases. SODs are classified into 3 isoforms in plants based on their metal cofactor at the active site which contains either iron, manganese or copper-zinc, and they are designated as FeSOD, MnSOD and Cu/ZnSOD (Alscher et al., 2002). Cu/ZnSOD are located in the cytosol and chloroplasts of the plant cell (Kliebestein et al., 1998). MnSODs exist in both eukaryotes and prokaryotes and occur in both the mitochondrial matrix and peroxisomes (del Río, Sandalio et al (2003). Both Cu/ZnSODs and FeSODs are dimers, whereas MnSOD in mitochondria are tetramers Abreu and Cabelli, (2010). The analysis of deduced amino acid sequences suggests that the three types of SOD fall into two phylogenetic families: the Fe-SODs together with the MnSODs separated from the Cu/ZnSODs. Mn and FeSODs are the more ancient type; they possibly evolved from the same ancestral enzyme, whereas Cu/Zn-SODs have a slight homology to Mn and FeSODs. They might have evolved separately in eukaryotes and have been selected in response to a common environmental stress.

1.4.4 Monodehydroascorbate reductase

Monodehydroascorbate reductase (MDHAR) is a flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD) enzyme that catalyzes the regeneration of ascorbic acid (AsA) from the MDHA radical using NADPH as the electron donor (Hossain et al., 1984). It is the only known enzyme to use an organic radical MDA as a substrate and is also capable of reducing phenoxyl radicals which are generated by horseradish peroxidase with H₂O₂. MDHAR activity is widespread in plants. The isoenzymes of MDHAR are present in several cellular compartments such as chloroplasts, cytosol, mitochondria and peroxisomes (Yoon et al., 2004). In chloroplasts, MDHAR could have two physiological functions: the regeneration of AsA from MDHA and the mediation of the photo-reduction of

dioxygen to O_2^- when the substrate MDHA is absent (Asada et al., 1994). Characterization of membrane polypeptides from pea leaf peroxisomes also revealed MDHAR to be involved in O_2^- generation. Several studies have shown increased activity of MDHAR in plants subjected to environmental stresses.

1.4.5 Glutathione Reductase

Glutathione reductase is a NADPH-dependent enzyme which catalyzes the reduction of GSSG to GSH and, thus, maintains a high cellular GSH/GSSG ratio (Alscher., 1989, Mahmood et al. 2010). GR belongs to a group of flavoenzymes and contains an essential disulfide group. The catalytic mechanism involves two steps: first the flavin moiety is reduced by NADPH, the flavin is oxidized and a redox-active disulfide bridge is reduced to produce a thiolate anion and a cysteine (Kaminaka et al., 1998). The second step involves the reduction of GSSG via thioldisulfide interchange reactions (Rao et al., 2008). If the reduced enzyme is not reoxidized by GSSG, it can suffer reversible inactivation. Although it is in the chloroplasts, cytosol, mitochondria, and peroxisomes, around 80% of GR activity in photosynthetic tissues is accounted for by chloroplastic isoforms (Edwards et al. 1990; Mmenez et al. 1997). In chloroplasts, GSH and GR are involved in detoxification of H₂O₂ generated by Mehler reaction.

UNIVERSITY of the 1.5 Proline biosynthesis WESTERN CAPE

Proline biosynthesis in plants is one of the adaptive mechanisms developed by plants to allow them to perceive osmotic stress signals and to optimize adaptive responses for plants to overcome conditions such as water deficit stress. One of these mechanisms, osmotic adjustment, is through the accumulation of large quantities of osmolytes, as it allows plants to avoid waterdeficit stress by preventing water loss. Glycine betaine, polyols, sugars and free amino acids are examples of such osmolytes (Chen et al., 2010; Slama et al., 2015). When plants are under waterdeficit stress, proline is mainly synthesized from glutamate as illustrated on the flow diagram in Figure 1.7. The bifunctional pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase (P5CS) reduces glutamate to glutamyl-5-semialdehyde, which is spontaneously converted to pyrroline-5-carboxylate (P5C). P5C is then reduced to proline by P5C reductase (P5CR). Degradation of proline takes place in

mitochondria via the sequential action of proline dehydrogenase (ProDH) and P5C dehydrogenase. The rate-limiting steps in proline biosynthesis and degradation are catalyzed by P5CS and ProDH, respectively.

Proline is the most common free amino acid to accumulate in plants subjected to water-deficit stress. However, proline has multifunctional roles such as stabilizing protein complexes, scavenging of free radicals and be a source of carbon and nitrogen for growth after stress relief (Szabados et al., 2010). The beneficial effect of proline on plant growth after stress is likely to be a result of changes in proline metabolism rather than the accumulation of the amino acid itself (Szabados et al., 2010; Sharma et al., 2011). The proline content of plant cells depends on tight regulation of its proline biosynthesis and catabolism. Housekeeping levels of proline biosynthesis occur in the cytosol, but stress-induced biosynthesis is thought to be localized in chloroplasts (Szekely et al., 2008).





1.5.1 Proline accumulation during water stress

Proline accumulation is one of the most frequently reported modifications induced by water deficit and salt stresses in plants and is often considered to be involved in stress resistance mechanisms (Kavi Kishor et al. 1995). Proline accumulates in a diverse group of plants in response to biotic and abiotic stresses (Szabados; Savoure, 2010). The levels of proline vary from species to species and can be 100 times greater under water deficit compared to well-watered conditions (Verbruggen; Hermans, 2008). It is suggested that proline acts in membrane and protein protection against the effects of the high concentration of inorganic ions and temperature extremes, in the stabilization of cell structures and detoxification of free radicals (Verbruggen; Hermans, 2008) and as a way to store carbon, nitrogen and energy (Hare; Cress, 1997). Studies also have shown that proline can also alter the activities of antioxidant enzymes (Campos et al., 2011).

1.6 Nitric Oxide

Nitric oxide, a molecule known to easily pass through cellular membrane due to its lipophilic nature, is involved in diverse physiological, biochemical and developmental process in plants (Krasylenk et al., 2010). NO is a reactive nitrogen species generated in different cells and its effects highly depend on its concentration, plant tissue type or age, type of stress and location (Belign et al., 1999; Kao et al., 2004). Besides proline (Kahlaoui et al., 2014), other chemicals such as sodium nitroprusside (a NO donor) are currently being applied to plants exposed to stressful conditions for improvement of growth and yield (Farooq et al. 2009). In recent years, evidence has accumulated showing that exogenous NO can alleviate the harmful effects of environmental stresses in plants (Boogar et al., 2014; Farooq et al., 2009; Liao et al., 2012). Oxidative mechanisms that lead to NO production include the production of NO from L-arginine (L-Arg) and polyamines. Reductive routes for NO production are dependent upon nitrite as the primary substrate and include reduction via nitrate reductase (NR) and a plasma membrane-bound nitrite-NO reductase (NiNOR) and mitochondrial nitrite reduction.

1.6.1 Nitric Oxide enzymatic biosynthesis

Studies show that there are two well-known plant enzymatic systems capable of NO biosynthesis in plants, nitric oxide synthase (NOS) and nitrate reductase (NR) (Crawford, 2006). Additionally, there may be other sources that appear to involve neither of these enzymes (Arnaud et al., 2006). An apparent plant NOS (AtNOS1) was first identified in Arabidopsis (Guo et al., 2003). Several reports have confirmed that the Atnos1 mutant does indeed show reduced NO accumulation and is impaired in its ability to generate NO in response to various stimuli (Zeidler et al., 2004; Bright et al., 2006; Zhao et al., 2007; Zottini et al., 2007). However, there are many reports in which inhibitors of mammalian NOS such as N ω -nitro-L-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME) were shown, in correlation with an inhibition of NO production, to inhibit various processes in plants, and there is some biochemical evidence for the existence of plant enzymes that use L-arginine to generate NO (Neill et al., 2003; Lamotte et al., 2005; Crawford, 2006; Jasid et al., 2006).

No gene or protein with sequence similarity to known mammalian-type NOS has been found in plants (Garcia-mata, Lamattina et al.,2003; Butt, Lum et al., 2003). These findings suggest that plants have a different NOS enzyme with biochemical properties of constitutive NOS (cNOS). This has been confirmed by discovery of a plant NOS gene that is induced by viral infection and encodes a variant of the protein of glycine decarboxylase (GDC) (chandok, Ytterberg et al., 2003). This discovery has made genetic tools available to elucidate NO synthesis and action and suggests that there is a novel mechanism for making NO in plants.

The other characterized enzymatic source of NO is nitrite reductase. The primary function of NR in plants is to assimilate nitrogen by converting nitrate to nitrite. However, as shown originally in soybean (Dean et al., 1988) and also *in vitro* and *in vivo* in Arabidopsis and other species (Neill et al., 2003; Bright et al., 2006; Crawford, 2006), in an NADPH-dependent reaction, NR can also convert nitrite to NO. The peroxisomal enzyme xanthine oxido-reductase (XOR) can also reduce nitrite to NO. XOR has been shown to reduce nitrite to NO, using NADH or xanthine as the reducing substrate (Godber et al., 2000). However, this reaction only occurs under anaerobic conditions. A plasma membrane-bound, root-specific enzyme, nitrite: Ni-NOR, may function as a further source of NO. This enzyme was identified biochemically as a result of its NO-generating

activity. Unlike NR, it does not use NADPH as a cofactor, but uses cytochrome c as an electron donor *in vitro*, and its pH optimum is more acidic than that of NR. Recent work has also suggested that, in addition to NR mediated nitrite-dependent NO production, electron transport processes in mitochondria and chloroplasts can also generate NO from nitrite (Gupta et al., 2005; Modolo et al., 2005; Planchet et al., 2005; Jasid et al., 2006). Additionally, apoplastic conversion of nitrite to NO at low pH has been demonstrated in the barley aleurone layer (Bethke et al., 2004).

1.6.2 Nitric oxide as a signaling molecule

Chief among the redox-based post-translation modifications is S-nitrosylation, the addition of a NO moiety to a reactive cysteine (Cys) thiol to form S-nitrosothiol (SNO) (Spadaro et al., 2010). This redox modification is a central route for NO bioactivity, as it can donate upon such Cys residues the ability to serve as a molecular switch, enabling the target protein to be directly responsive to changes in cellular redox status. S-nitrosylation has been shown to modulate enzyme activity. NO can react reversibly with glutathione (GSH), producing GSNO, a reservoir of NO (Liu et al., 2001; Sakamoto et al., 2002). GSNO is metabolized by GSNO reductase (GSNOR), which controls NO and nitrosothiol levels, being a key enzyme in most NO-regulated processes, such as pathogen defense, root development, and nitrogen assimilation (Feechan et al., 2005; Rustérucci et al., 2007; Frungillo et al., 2014). It has been shown that GSNO inhibits nitrate uptake and its reduction to nitrite, which would prevent NR-dependent NO production (Figure 1.7; Frungillo et al., 2014). Additionally, CO₂ elevation distinctly increased S-nitrosylated NR levels in plants grown under high-nitrate conditions, along with a significant decrease in NR activity similarly to that which occurs with chilling treatment (Cheng et al., 2015; Du et al., 2015). These results suggest that S-nitrosylation of NR may decrease NR activity. Interestingly, NR regulation in response to high CO₂ levels appears to be dependent on nitric oxide synthase-like (NOSI) activity (Du et al., 2015), pointing to a regulation between the different NO-production pathways.



Figure 1.7 Different NO production pathways and signaling interactions between NO and H_2O_2 induced by stress development and regulation of antioxidant defense mechanism adapted from (Frungillo et al., 2014; Du et al., 2015; Cheng et al 2015)

Moreover, NO could also activate NR activity under a relatively low-nitrate concentration, the haem and molybdenum centers in NR, which enhances electron transfer during nitrate reduction (Du et al., 2008). To complete the cycle, it has also been demonstrated that NO inhibits GSNOR1 through S-nitrosylation avoiding GSNO degradation at the same time and regulating plant nitrosothiol levels as illustrated in Figure 1.7 (Frungillo et al., 2014). Thus, GSNO feedback regulates nitrogen flux through nitrite assimilation pathways and controls its bioavailability by modulating its own consumption (Frungillo et al., 2014). In the context of hypersensitive response, NO is also able to regulate the level of its own radicals, such as ONOO⁻, through S-nitrosylation of peroxiredoxin II E (PrxII E) that inhibits its H_2O_2 -reducing and peroxinitrite-detoxifying activities (Romero-Puertas et al., 2007).

1.6.3 Defense Role of Nitric Oxide in plants

NO has become known as a vital molecule in drought tolerance of several plant species through enhancing the antioxidant systems, ROS and osmolytes metabolism (Filippou et al., 2014; Shiet al., 2014). NO may also act as a mediator to prevent water loss via ABA-induced stomatal responses through various signaling pathways such as mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) and Ca²⁺ (Gayatri et al., 2013). Fan et al. (2012) showed that cellular changes in plants subjected to water deficit stress were affected by NO as shown by exogenous application of SNP. NO-responsive drought-related genes include transcription factors, promoters and antioxidant-related genes (Besson-Bard et al., 2009a,b; Grun et al., 2006; Palmieri et al., 2008).Defense genes such as pathogenesis-related 1 protein and phenylalanine ammonia lyase are induced by the addition of NO donors (SNP). The same genes were induced by cGMP, further implying a guanylate cyclase pathway (Durne et al., 1998). NO plays a key signaling role during the hypersensitive response, a reactive oxygen species generating response resulting in localized cell death and limiting nutrient availability to an invading pathogen. NO, in concert with hydrogen peroxide, can induce cell death in this role (Delledonne , et al 1998).

1.6.4 Nitric oxide role in plant programmed cell death UNIVERSITY of the

There are numerous and often contradictory reports concerning NO and programmed cell death (PCD). Elevated levels of NO were sufficient to induce cell death in Arabidopsis cell suspensions, independently from reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Clarke et al. 2000). The process was blocked by a specific inhibitor of guanylate cyclase, the enzyme producing cGMP, which is a well-established second messenger mediating NO responses in mammalian cells. The influence of NO and ROS donors on PCD was investigated in tobacco (de Pinto et al. 2002). The increase in either NO or ROS separately did not induce cell death, whereas the simultaneous increase of NO and ROS activated a process of cell death, with typical cytological and biochemical features of PCD (de Pinto et al. 2002). The interaction between NO and ROS in PCD induction was investigated in soybean cell suspensions (Delle donne et al. 2001), and the researchers concluded that NO by itself does not induce PCD, but the key factor determining it is the NO:-superoxide ratio (Delle donne et al. 2001). Contrary to that, in Taxus Brevifolia and Kalanchoë daigrenothtiana SNP or

mechanical stress caused to burst, which preceded a significant increase in nuclear DNA fragmentation and cell death (Pedroso et al. 2000; Yamasaki, 2000; Romero-Puertas et al., 2004).

On the other hand, Beligni et al. (2002) provided data indicating a NO-dependent delay of developmental PCD mediated by gibberellic acid (GA) in barley aleurone layers. Although NO can inhibit PCD in GA-treated cells, it does not have a general effect on cellular metabolism and is only predicted as a specific endogenous modulator of PCD (Beligni et al. 2002).

1.6.5 Nitric Oxide and Abiotic stress

Literature shows that exogenous NO can reduce the negative effects of water stress (Farooq et al., 2009, Liao et al., 2012, Rahimian Boogar et al., 2014). Exogenous SNP application has been reported for drought stress tolerance (Hao et al., 2008) on drought-stressed hull-less barley seedlings treated with different concentrations of SNP; the results showed that drought stress seriously altered physiological functions and growth but NO application alleviated the drought enduring damages by antioxidant and ROS scavenging enzyme activity (Gan et al., 2015). NO also various molecules, interacts with plant hormones and other signaling and regulates osmoprotectants that protect against drought stress. In contrast, NO scavengers such as L-NAME (NG-nitro-L-arginine-methyl ester) reduce endogenous NO levels, leading to higher $01 \ une$ stress sensitivity (Hao et al., 2008, Xu et al., 2010a).

Removal of NO using a combination of both chemical and genetic approaches has been shown to inhibit ABA-related stomatal responses. ABA induces NO production along with a rise in pH and H_2O_2 levels in water-stressed plants (Greco et., 2012; Wendehenne et al., 2001). NO has also been prostulated to activate mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling cascades which may then drive stomatal closure (Zhang et al., 2007).

CAPE

1.6.6 Signaling interaction

Signaling interactions between ABA, H₂O₂, and NO occur in order to mediate plant survival under adverse conditions. ABA activates H₂O₂ generation by NADPH oxidase via a signalling pathway involving the ABA receptors, calmodulin, the OST1 protein kinase, and other unidentified

components (Desikan et al., 1998b; Kller et al., 1998; Torres et al., 1998). H₂O₂ induces NO generation by nitrate reductase and NOS-like enzymatic activity (Lin et al., 2012). NO induces stomatal closure through a process that requires MAPKs, cGMP, and Ca²⁺ (McAinsh et al., 1996; pei et al., 2000). It is also likely that NO signaling independent of ABA and H₂O₂ can also occur to cause stomatal closure during certain conditions (Bowler and Fluhr, 2000). NO also enhances antioxidant gene and enzyme activity via MAPK and other unidentified signaling pathways (Hirt, 1997).

NO proved to be capable of regulating multiple plant responses towards a variety of biotic and abiotic stresses and alleviating some consequences provoked by oxidative stresses (Delledonne, 2005; Bligni and Lamattima, 1999a; Crawford and Guo, 2005). High levels of NO can damage membranes and cause DNA fragmentation (Pedroso et al., 2000; Yamasaki, 2000; Romero-Puertas et al., 2004) and can reduce photosynthesis in oat and alfalfa (Hill and Bennet, 1970) and reproduction in carrot cell suspensions (Zottini et al.,2002) are inhibited by NO exposure. Interestingly, NO signaling is based on interactions with plant hormones. Furthermore, cytokinin (CTK) stimulated more NO formation, probably mainly via a NR source under the conditions of drought stress in *Zea mays* (Ruixin, Kaibo, et al., 2009). An increase in NO levels alleviates drought-induced ROS damage to plants. NO prevents oxidative damage in plants by the regulation of general mechanisms for cellular redox homeostasis and by enhancing the H₂O₂-scavenging enzyme activities (Lamattina et al., 2003; Shi et al., 2007; Zheng et al., 2009). Although the NO molecule possesses antioxidant properties (Karplus et al., 1991), NO rapidly reacts with, oxygen species, hemes, thiols and proteins to produce biochemical signals that directly and indirectly regulate enzymatic activities.



Fig. 1.8 NO signalling in plants. Double lined arrows represent potential synthesis and biochemical interactions while single lined arrows represent potential cellular effects and target sites for NO action.

1.6.7 Hydrogen peroxide and nitric oxide interactions

 H_2O_2 and NO are key signaling molecules produced in cells in response to various stimuli and involved in a wide range of plant signal transduction processes. It is often observed that NO and ROS such as superoxide and H_2O_2 are generated in response to similar stimuli and with similar kinetics. NO and ROS can interact in many different ways. For example, they can interact chemically in the formation of compounds such as peroxynitrite. NO may also affect the activities of enzymes that alter ROS levels. Thus, they could both impact either negatively or positively on the related signaling pathways and thereby lead to additive and possibly synergistic responses. Stomatal closure in response to ABA is one such example where this occurs. Lum et al. (2002) observed that exogenous H_2O_2 induced NO generation *Phaseolus aureus* leaves. In a chemiluminescence-based assay, H_2O_2 induced a substantial increase in an apparent NOS-like activity. This increase was reduced by using an NOS inhibitor. Interestingly, the H_2O_2 induced NO

generation was inhibited by the calcium channel blocker. Thus, it is possible that Ca^{2+} ions may mediate this effect of H_2O_2 .



Figure 1.9 Schematic summary of plants response on drought stress, accumulation and scavenging of ROS and interaction of ROS and nitric oxide.

Similarly, ABA-induced NO synthesis is dependent on prior H₂O₂ generation in both *V. faba* (Dong et al., 2005) and Arabidopsis (Bright et al., 2006). Removal of the H₂O₂ with antioxidants or inhibition of its synthesis by inhibiting NADPH oxidase activity prevents NO generation and stomatal closure. Similarly, removal of the NO using PTIO prevents either H₂O₂- or ABA-induced stomatal closure. Guard cells of the AtrbohD/F double mutant (Kwak et al., 2003) also fail to make NO in response to ABA. However, H₂O₂ stimulation of guard cell NO accumulation in the Atnos1 mutant was as in the wild type (Bright et al., 2006). Thus, the requirement of AtNOS1 for NO

synthesis must be upstream of H_2O_2 and its signalling effects. It also appears that the ABA- H_2O_2 -NO cascade is not restricted to guard cells.



Chapter 2

Materials and Methods

2.1 Seed germination and growth of Zea mays

Commercial maize (*Zea mays*) seeds were surface sterilized for 10 minutes in a 12% bleach solution containing a final concentration of 0.35% (v/v) sodium hypochloride, and then rinsed 5 times with distilled water to remove the bleach solution. Seeds were placed on paper towel and kept in the dark until radicles emerged. Germinated seeds were planted in autoclaved Promix (one plant per 3-liter pot) and grown on regulated conditions of 25/19 °C day /night temperature cycle under a 16/8 h light/dark cycle, at a photosynthetic photon flux density of 300 µmol photons m⁻².s⁻¹ during the day phase. Seedlings were supplied with 250 ml of water every third day of a week directly to the promix around the plant. After 7 days of planting, maize seedlings reached V1 stage (when the collar of the first true leaf is visible).

2.2 Plant treatments

When plants reached the V2 stage, water deprivation commenced by watering once a week with 20 % of the initial amount (250 ml per pot), while for the well-watered plants 250 ml was supplied twice a week. Water deprivation on maize seedlings was conducted for a period of 21 days. Then pre-treatment with inhibitors was initiated at the V4 stage on water deprived seedlings with the following final concentrations: 0.5 mM L-NAME and 5 mM DMTU. On the following day, seedlings were then treated with various treatments with the following final concentrations: 50μ M DETA/NO, a combination of 5 mM DMTU + 0.5 mM L-NAME, a combination of 5 mM DMTU+50 μ M DETA/NO, and with 0.5 mM H₂O₂ on well-watered plants and the untreated (control) was supplied with HEPES at pH7.3. Therefore there were a final of eight treatments including the control in the following order: Untreated, 0.5 mM H₂O₂, Water Deficit (WD), WD + 5 mM DMTU, WD + 0.5 mM L-NAME, wD+50 μ M DETA/NO). Plants were harvested after a week of treatment and were at stage V5. Relative water content and cell viability were measured while harvesting.

2.3 Evaluation of Cell viability on Maize Leaves

Cell viability was measured spectrophotometrically through the uptake of Evan's blue dye on untreated and treated maize leaves by the assay described by Sanevas et al (2007). The degree of dye uptake is inversely proportional to the cell viability (increased uptake of the dye is the indication of compromised cell membrane integrity). Fresh leaves of the control and treated maize leaves were harvested, then 1 cm sections from the second youngest leaf were excised. The sections were then placed individually in 0.25% Evan's blue dye for an hour. Then leaf sections were rinsed thoroughly with distilled water to ensure the removal of unbound dye. Leaf sections were incubated for an hour in 1% SDS at 55°C in order to release Evan's dye from the cells into the solution. The released Evan's blue dye was then detected spectrophotometrically by measuring the absorbance readings at 600nm for each triplicate sample. And by subtracting the sample absorbance from the blank absorbance to obtain a final A ₆₀₀nm values of the samples.

2.4 Measurement of Relative Water Content

Relative water content was measured in duplicate using the second youngest leaf of wellwatered and water-deprived plants. For determining the fresh weight, leaves detached from the second youngest leaf with cutting done from the tip of the leaf to give 10 cm sections which were weighed. The leaves were then incubated in a beaker filled with distilled water for 2 hours to allow the full uptake of water to determine the turgor weight of the leaves. Leaves were then surface dried to ensure there was no water on the surface and they were subsequently weighted. For dry weight determination, leaves were placed at 80°C in an oven to dry for 48 hours, then weighed to obtain the dry weight.

2.5 Metabolite extraction

Plant material (100 mg) was ground into a fine powder in liquid nitrogen and homogenized in 500 μ l of cold 6% (w/v) trichloroacetic acid TCA, followed by centrifugation at 12 000 rpm for 30 minutes at 4°C, followed by collection of the supernatant for MDA and H₂O₂ measurements. The rest of the plant material was ground into fine powder by pestle and mortar that had been pre-cooled with the liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C for further biochemical assays.

2.6 Determination of Lipid Peroxidation

Lipid peroxidation was assayed indirectly via measuring Malondialdehyde (MDA) which is the byproduct of lipid peroxidation. MDA was determined by mixing TCA extracts in a 1:2 ratio with a solution containing 20% TCA and 0.5% thiobarbituric acid (TBA) in a final volume of 600 μ l samples were briefly vortexed for homogenation and incubated at 90°C for 20 minutes, then chilled on ice for 10 minutes to stop the reaction. Samples were then centrifuged for 5 minutes and the absorbance readings were measured in triplicates spectrophotometrically at 532 nm and 600 nm wavelength as described by (Buege et al., 1978). The amount of MDA was calculated using a molar extinction coefficient of 155 mM⁻¹cm⁻¹.

2.7 Determination of H₂O₂ content

 H_2O_2 content was assayed by homogenizing 50 µl of TCA extract with 150 µl of reaction buffer containing 5 mM K₂HPO4, pH 5.0 and 0.5 M KI (Velikova et al., 2000). Reactions were incubated at 25°C for 20 min, followed by recording of absorbance readings in triplicate at 390 nm. H_2O_2 content was calculated using a standard curve constructed with the absorbance of H_2O_2 standards read at an absorbance of 390 nm.

2.8 Protein Extraction and concentration determination

Plant material was ground into fine powder using mortar and pestle under cold conditions using liquid nitrogen. Cold extraction buffer 5% Polyvinylpolyoyrolidone (PVPP), 40 mM KPO₄, 1 mM EDTA pH7.4 was added to the plant material in centrifuge tube at a plant material: extraction buffer ratio of 1:5 and vigorously vortexed, then centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 30 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was transferred to new tubes and centrifuged again under the same conditions. This step was repeated twice. The protein was then quantified using a Bradford Assay and stored at -20°C.

2.9 Determination of Proline Content

Crude protein was extracted using a 5% PVPP buffer mixed with a prepared reaction solution (10 ml of 3% sulphosalicylic acid, 10 ml of acetic acid and 20 ml of 2.5% acid-ninhydrin) as described by (Bates et al., 1973). The protein extract (50 μ l) was mixed with 1 mL of reaction solution. The homogenate was centrifuged at 13 000 rpm for 15 min in a 1.5 ml centrifuge tube. The reaction solution with 50 μ l of 100 mM PBS at pH7.0 served as a reference. The reaction mixture was incubated at 95°C for 30 minutes (the color turned red after boiling) and cooled on ice for 5 minutes. For measuring the absorbance, 200 μ l of the reaction solution was pipetted to the wells of the microtitter plate. A proline standard curve was prepared for quantification using L-Proline (0, 5, 10, 20, 25 and 30 μ g). The absorbance of the chromophore was read spectrophotometrically at 520 nm using PBS as a blank. The proline content of samples was calculated by referring to a standard curve drawn from absorbance readings from samples containing known concentrations of proline.

2. 10 Nitric oxide measurement

Tissue extracts were obtained by weighing out ground 150 mg of plant tissue and adding 750 μ l of 6% TCA (w/v) in a micro-centrifuge tube. After vortexing the mixture, the sample was spun for 20 min at 10,000 rpm. The supernatant was transferred to a clean tube and stored at -20°C. To the supernatant, 200 Units of catalase and 200 Units of superoxide dismutase were added. The mixture was mildly vortexed and incubated for 10 min. Freshly prepared oxyhemoglobin was added to a final concentration of 10 μ M. The mixture was incubated for 2 min, followed by measurement of NO content spectrophotometrically at 401 and 421 nm as described by (Pasqualini et al., 2009), based on the conversion of oxyhemoglobin (HbO₂) to methemoglobin (MetHb).

2.11 Detection of antioxidant enzyme activity in maize using native gels

2.11.1 APX activity

For determination of the response of *Zea mays* APX isoforms in the treatments, electrophoretic APX separation was carried out as previously described by Mittler and Zilinskas (1993) and nondenaturing polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis was performed at 4°C on 12% polyacrylamide mini gels. Prior to loading extracts containing 50 µg of protein into the wells, gels were equilibrated with running buffer containing 2 mM ascorbate for 30 min at 4°C. After the electrophoresis, gels were incubated in 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) containing 2 mM ascorbate for 20 min and then transferred to solutions containing 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.8), 5 mM ascorbate and 2 mM H₂O₂ for 20 min. The gels were washed in the buffer for 1 min and submerged in a solution of 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.8) containing 28 mM N,N,N', N'-tetra-methyl ethylene-diamine and 2.5 mM nitroblue tetrazolium for 10–20 min, with gentle agitation in the presence of light. The gel images were captured and analyzed by densitometry using AlphaEase FC imaging software (Alpha Innotech Corporation).

2.11.2 Superoxide Dismutase activity

Protein extracts were obtained from leaf and root tissue. Tissue (100 mg) was weighed and homogenized in 500 μ l of buffer [40mM K₂HPO4, pH 7.4, 1 mM ethylene diaminetetra acetic acid (EDTA), 5% (w/v) polyvinylpyrolidone (PVP) molecular weight = 40 000]. Native polyacrylamide gels (12%) were prepared and equal amounts of protein extracts from both leaves (200 μ g) and roots were loaded on gels. Activity of all SOD isoforms was determined by staining with 0.5 mM riboflavin and 2.5 mM nitroblue tetrazolium, as described by Dewiret al. (2006). Densitometry was measured and used to estimate SOD activity for each sample.

2.11.3 Catalase activity

For determination of catalase activity, a 7.5% separating gel was prepared and 200 μ g of protein extract for both root and leaves were loaded on the gel and electrophoresed at 60 V for 8 hours. Then, after performing all the staining steps in the dark, the gel was initially washed three times

with distilled water for 10 minutes. Then, 0.003% of hydrogen peroxide was prepared by mixing 10 μ l of 30% H₂O₂ solution with 99.99 ml of distilled water, then gels were incubated in 0.003% H₂O₂ solution for 30 minutes. Two fresh conical tubes were used, one for preparing 2% ferric chloride by weighing 0.6 g and dissolving it in a 30 ml of distilled water. On the second tube, 2% of potassium ferric cyanide was prepared by weighing 0.6 g and also dissolving it in 30 ml of distilled water. Both solutions were covered with foil to avoid exposure to the light. Ferric chloride and potassium ferric cyanide solutions were poured simultaneously to a beaker and mixed immediately, then immediately poured on the staining vessel containing the gel, but not directly on the gel. The gel was agitated on the light box until the gel darkened and chromatic bands began to form. The stain was poured off and the gel was rinsed extensively with distilled water and photographed.

2.12 Statistical Analysis

One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to evaluate statistical validity of the results and means (from three independent experiments) were compared according to the Turkey–Kramer test at 5% level of significance, using GraphPad Prism 6.01 software.

UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

Chapter 3: Results

3.1 Effects of the chemical treatment on water stress responses in maize seedlings.

3.1.1 Water status is altered by the various treatments.

Figure 3.1 illustrates changes in RWC observed when plants were grown under insufficient water supply. Comparison of water status in leaves upon treatment with 0.5 mM H_2O_2 well-watered maize seedlings versus the untreated well-watered seedlings shows that there was an increase of approximately $\pm 15\%$ in H₂O₂ content. A decrease of 58% in RWC was observed in water-deprived maize leaves compared to the untreated well-watered leaves was observed. Treatment with 5 mM DMTU caused a 38% decrease of RWC compared to untreated well-watered leaves, whereas 0.5 mM L-NAME treatment caused a decrease of approximately 47% in RWC. Treatment of water-deprived maize seedlings with 50 μ M DETA/NO resulted in a 37% decrease compared to the untreated vell-watered in a 37% decrease compared to the untreated well-watered seedlings with 5 mM DMTU in combination with 0.5 mM L-NAME resulted in a decrease of approximately of 38% decrease in RWC compared to the untreated well-watered seedlings. Treatment of water-deprived maize seedlings with 50 μ M DETA/NO had no effect on the RWC.



Figure 3.1 Representation of oxidative stress effects on maize seedlings under water deficit and various treatments: RWC assay was conducted on the 2nd youngest leaf of maize at V3 growth stage. The assay was done on untreated well-watered and H₂O₂-treated well-watered, water-deprived seedlings including various treatments performed in a 7 days period, with 2 days intervals (0.5 mM H₂O₂, 5 mM DMTU, 0.5 mM L-NAME and 50 μ M DETA/NO). The error bars signify standard deviation, bars with the same letters are statistically similar, where *P*<0.05

3.2 DETA/NO treatments reduced cell death on maize subjected to drought stress

Presented below are the responses of maize leaves during water stress and changes in cell viability in response to the various treatments. There was no significant difference in cell death between leaves of plants treated with 0.5 mM H₂O₂ and the untreated well-watered leaves. Water-deprived leaves showed an increase of approximately 78% in cell death compared to the untreated control. Water-deprived plants treated with 5 mM DMTU had approximately a 14% increase of cell death compared to the untreated control plants. Treatment with 0.5 mM L-NAME in water-deprived leaves showed a significant increase of 57% compared to the untreated

control. When water-deprived plants were treated with 50 μ M DETA/NO, there was 17% increase of cell death in their leaves compared to the untreated control. Treatment of water stressed leaves with a combination of DMTU and L-NAME resulted in an increase of 38% in cell death compared to the control whereas the combined treatment of DMTU and DETA/NO in water deficient leaves reduced cell death to a level equivalent to the untreated control.



Figure 3.2: The degree of cell death in maize seedlings, supplied with water and those deprived of water. The cell death assay shows in absorbance units (Au) as a function of Evan's blue uptake. Cell death was measured on leaves from untreated well-watered maize seedlings and well-watered maize seedlings treated with H₂O₂, DMTU, LNAME and DETA/NO). The error bars signify standard deviation, bars with the same letters are statistically similar, where *P*<0.05

3.1.3 Exogenous application of a H₂O₂ scavenger and NO donor reduced accumulation in maize leaves during drought stress

The level of hydrogen peroxide is shown in Figure 3.4. Well-watered maize seedlings treated with 0.5 mM H_2O_2 showed an increase of 9% in leave H₂O₂ content compared to the untreated control. The well-watered roots of maize seedlings treated with H₂O₂ had an equal amount of H₂O₂ content to the untreated control. An increase of approximately 190% in H₂O₂ content in waterdeprived maize leaves was observed compared to the untreated control. For roots, there was a 180% increase in H_2O_2 content under water deficit compared to the untreated well-watered roots. Exogenous application of 5 mM DMTU to water deprived maize seedlings reduced the accumulation of H₂O₂, as indicated by a 22% decrease in H₂O₂ content in leaves and roots compared to the untreated control. Treatment with 0.5 mM L-NAME resulted in an increase of approximately 43% and 41% H₂O₂ in leaves and roots, respectively, compared to the untreated control. Treatment with 50 µM DETA/NO showed limited accumulation of H₂O₂ (25% in leaves and 23% in roots) compared to the untreated well-watered seedlings. Combined treatment with 5 mM DMTU and 0.5 mM L-NAME resulted to an increase of 45% and 47% in H₂O₂ content in leaves and roots compared to the untreated control, respectively, whereas combined treatment of maize seedlings with 5 mM DMTU and 50 μ M DETA/NO reduced the levels of H₂O₂ to those equivalent to the untreated control. WESTERN CAPE



Figure 3.3: The effect of the various treatments on leaf and root H_2O_2 . H_2O_2 content measured in leaves (a) and roots (b) from untreated well-watered maize seedling and well-watered maize or water-deprived maize seedling treated with H_2O_2 , DMTU, L-NAME and DETA/NO). Error bars signify standard deviation, bars with the same letters are statistically similar, where *P*<0.05.

WESTERN CAPE

3.1.4 MDA accumulates higher in leaves than roots of maize seedlings subjected

to drought

To determine the extent of oxidative damage induced by water stress and the effects of various treatments, MDA content was investigated in maize leaves and roots showed in Figure 3.4. Leaves from well-watered plants treated with H₂O₂ showed no significant difference in MDA content compared to the untreated control and the same trend was observed on roots. Water deprived plants showed an increase of 64% in MDA content compared to the untreated well-watered control. In roots, an increase of approximately 35% was observed compared to the untreated to the untreated with 5 mM showed an increase of 14% in MDA

content in leaves and roots compared to the untreated control. The MDA content in waterdeprived maize seedlings treated with 0.5 mM L-NAME increased by 30% and 21% in leaves and roots, respectively, compared to the untreated controls. The MDA content in the 50 μ M DETA/NO treatment was 14% compared to the untreated control in roots and leaves. The combined treatment with DMTU and L-NAME resulted in approximately a 28% increase in MDA content in leaves and 24% in roots compared to the untreated control, whereas the combined treatment of DMTU and DETA/NO caused no change in MDA levels.



Figure 3.4 Malondialdehyde content in leaves and roots of water-deprived maize seedlings. MDA content in leaves and roots of untreated well-watered seedlings and well-watered maize seedlings treated with H_2O_2 , DMTU, L-NAME and DETA/NO, together with MDA content of waterdeprived maize leaves and roots. The error bars signify standard deviation, bars with the same letters are statistically similar, where p<0.05.

3.1.5 Proline content during water deficit stress in maize

Figure 3.5 shows that the accumulation of proline was higher in roots than in the leaves. Proline content in leaves from well-watered maize seedlings treated with 0.5 mM H₂O₂ was the same as untreated well-watered maize leaves (control), and a similar trend was observed in the roots from seedlings treated with H₂O₂. Water deficit resulted in a 63% increase in leaf proline content when compared to the untreated well-watered plants, whereas on roots there was an increase of 51% in proline content in comparison to the untreated root control. A 15% increase in proline content was observed in response to application of 5 mM DMTU in water-deprived maize leaves compared to the untreated well-watered plants. A 30% increase in roots of proline content was observed in response to treatment with DMTU when compared to the untreated control. The 0.5 mM L-NAME treatment resulted in a 47% increase in leaf proline content and a 53% increase in root proline content in comparison to the untreated well-watered control. Treatment with 50 µM DETA/NO led to an increase in proline level, with leaves showing a 17% increase and roots showing a 23% increase compared to the untreated control. The combined treatment with 5 mM DMTU and 0.5 mM L-NAME in water-deprived seedlings resulted in an increase in proline content by 29% and 57% in leaves and roots, respectively. The proline content in water-deprived maize seedlings treated with DMTU and DETA/NO showed values similar to the untreated control in) IN I V E K 3I I I 0J INC both leaves and roots.

WESTERN CAPE



Figure 3.5 Proline levels in water-deprived maize seedlings. Proline levels were measured in untreated well-watered leaves and roots, and water-deprived leaves and roots treated with H_2O_2 , DMTU, L-NAME and DETA/NO. The error bars signify standard deviation, bars with the same letters are statistically similar, where *P<0.05*. **RSITY** of the

3.1.6 Responses of maize seedlings to exogenous application of nitric oxide and changes prompted by various treatments during water stress

NO content in leaves from plants treated with 0.5 mM H_2O_2 showed an increase of 14% compared to the untreated controls. An increase of 158% in No content in leaves of water-deprived seedlings and 166% in No content in roots was observed compared to the untreated control. Treatment with 5 mM DMTU water-deprived samples showed approximately a 50% increase in NO content in leaves and 63% in roots compared to the untreated control. In water-deprived maize seedlings treated with 0.5 mM L-NAME, NO content was reduced to a level similar to that of plants treated with 0.5 mM H₂O₂ in both leaves and roots. The treatment with DETA/NO in water-deprived maize seedlings resulted in an increase in nitric oxide content of approximately

264% in leaves and 200% in roots. When maize seedlings were treated with both DMTU and L-NAME in water deprived conditions, there was a decrease in nitric oxide content by approximately 42% in leaves and 33% in roots compared to the untreated controls. The treatment with both DMTU and DETA/NO in water-deprived maize seedlings caused the nitric oxide content to increase by 114% in leaves and 113% in roots compared to the untreated controls.



Figure 3.6 NO content in maize seedlings under various treatments. NO content was measured in untreated well-watered and untreated water-deprived maize seedlings together with corresponding treatment with H_2O_2 , DMTU, L-NAME and DETA/NO. The error bars signify standard deviation, bars with the same letters are statistically similar, where *P*<0.05.

3.2 Role of NO and H_2O_2 in the regulation of antioxidant enzyme activity during water deficit stress in maize leaf seedlings

3.2.1 Superoxide dismutase isoform activity in response to various treatments

A total of 6 SOD isoforms was observed in the native polyacrylamide gels, namely (MnSOD, Cu/ZnSOD (denoted Cu/ZnSOD1, CuZnSOD2, Cu/ZnSOD3 and Cu/ZnSOD4) and one FeSOD (Figure 3.7). Differentiation of SOD isoform profiles was done with the use of different SOD inhibitors (KCN and H₂O₂). Enzymatic activity of MnSOD was slightly increased in response to treatment with H₂O₂ compared to the untreated control plants. MnSOD isozyme activity in water-deprived plants increased. However, treatment with DETA/NO and water-deprived slightly increased MnSOD isozyme activity, a trend similar to the combined treatment with L-NAME and DMTU. Enzymatic activity of MnSOD increased in response to the to the DMTU and DETA/NO.

Enzymatic activity detected for Cu/ZnSOD1 and Cu/ZnSOD2 decreased in response to H₂O₂ in well-watered plants. Treatment of water-deprived plants with DMTU enhanced the enzymatic activity of Cu/ZnSOD1 and Cu/ZnSOD2. In response to L-NAME, DMTU, and the combined DMTU and L-NAME treatment, Cu/ZnSOD1 and Cu/ZnSOD2 activities were increased. However enzymatic activity of Cu/ZnSOD1 and Cu/ZnSOD2 decreased in the combined treatment with DMTU and DETA/NO. The activity of Cu/ZnSOD3 and Cu/ZnSOD4 decreased in all treatments. Water deficit enhanced enzymatic activity of Cu/ZnSOD3 and Cu/ZnSOD4. Cu/ZnSOD3 and Cu/ZnSOD4 activities were not affected by treatment with DMTU and DETA/NO. The enzymatic activity of FeSOD was not affected in any of the various treatments.



Figure 3.7 Effects of various treatments on SOD enzymatic activity in maize leaves. In-gel activities of various SOD isoforms in response to the following treatments are shown: 0.5 mM H_2O_2 , 50 μ M DETA/NO, 5mM DMTU, 0. 5mM L-NAME. Individual SOD isoforms were identified by incubating gels in 6 mM KCN (B) and 5 mM H_2O_2 (C), respectively from which pixel intensities

were analyzed, (b) MnSOD, (e) FeSOD and (f) Cu/ZnSOD. The error bars signify standard deviation, bars with the same letters are statistically similar, where *P*<0.05.

3.2.2 Changes in root SOD isoforms activity in response to various treatments

Maize roots revealed a total of three SOD isoforms: Mn-SOD, Fe-SOD, and Cu/Zn-SOD (Figure 3.8). The intensity of MnSOD isozyme was enhanced in response to treatment with H₂O₂ under well-watered conditions when compared to the untreated control. Enzymatic activity of MnSOD isozyme was enhanced in water-deprived and DMTU-treated plants. The L-NAME, DETA/NO and the combined treatment with DMTU and L-NAME resulted in the similar increase in enzymatic activity of MnSOD. In response to the combined treatment with DMTU and DETA/NO, the enzymatic activity of MnSOD decreased in maize roots.

Enzymatic activity of the Cu/ZnSOD isozyme was enhanced in response to H₂O₂ in the wellwatered treatment when compared to the untreated control. The untreated water-deprived treatment increased Cu/ZnSOD enzymatic activity whereas in the presence of DMTU the waterdeprived treatment had decreased Cu/ZNSOD enzymatic activity. In response to L-NAME and DETA/NO in the water-deprived treatment, enzymatic activity of Cu/ZnSOD increased. Combined treatment with DMTU and L-NAME inhibited Cu/ZnSOD in maize roots whereas the combined treatment with DMTU and DETA/NO activated the enzymatic activity of Cu/ZnSOD. Enzymatic activity of FeSOD detected in all various treatment was less than the activity of other isoforms and no distinct difference was observed in response to the various treatments.



Figure 3.8 The effect of various treatments on SOD enzymatic activity in maize roots. In-gel activities of various SOD isoforms in response to the following treatments are shown: 0.5 mM H_2O_2 , 50 μ M DETA/NO, 5 mM DMTU, 0.5 mM L-NAME and untreated control. Individual SOD isoforms were identified by incubating gels in 6 mM KCN (B) and 5 mM H_2O_2 (C) ,respectively from which pixel intensities were analyzed, (b) MnSOD, (e) FeSOD and (f) Cu/ZnSOD. The error bars signify standard deviation, bars with the same letters are statistically similar, where p <0.05.

For better analysis of enzymatic analysis densitometry analysis was done. Quantification of SOD bands intensities by densitometry revealed that Cu/ZnSOD was the predominant isozyme in

maize roots. Figure 3.8 Densitometry analysis indicated an increase in MnSOD enzymatic activity of about 3% in response to treatment with H₂O₂ under well-watered conditions compared to the untreated control. In response to water deprivation, MnSOD activity increased by approximately 12% compared to the untreated control. The DMTU treatment decreased MnSOD activity by approximately 6% compared to the water-deprived plants. However, in the L-NAME treatment, the enzymatic activity of root MnSOD equally increased like the untreated water deprived seedlings. In response to DETA/NO and the combined treatment with DMTU and L-NAME MnSOD enzymatic activity decreased by approximately 7%. Furthermore, combined treatment with DMTU and DETA/NO decreased MnSOD enzymatic activity by 10%.

Enzymatic activity of Cu/ZnSOD detected on maize roots slightly increased by 3% in response to H₂O₂ treatment compared to the untreated control. An increase was observed on Cu/ZnSOD activity in water-deprived roots, which was reduced by 4% in the DMTU treatment. Enzymatic activity of Cu/ZnSOD slightly decreased by 2% in response to the L-NAME treatment when compared to the water-deprived treatment, whereas on DETA/NO treatment the Cu/ZnSOD activity increased by approximately 8% compared to the water-deprived. Combined treatment with DMTU and L-NAME reduced the enzymatic activity of Cu/ZnSOD by approximately 12%. However combined treatment with DMTU and DETA/NO resulted in an 8% decrease of enzymatic activity compared to the water-deprived roots. Enzymatic activity for FeSOD did not change in response to the various treatments.

3.2.3 Response of ascorbate peroxidase to various treatments in maize leaves

On native PAGE gels, only three APX isoforms were detected in maize leaves Figure 3. H₂O₂treated maize leaves resulted in a slight increase in APX1 activity compared to the untreated control. APX1 isoform intensity increased in water-deprived compared to the untreated control. Treatment with DMTU under water deficit conditions caused a decrease in leaf APX1 activity compared to the water-deprived treatment. In the presence of L-NAME, APX1 activity decreased. In response to the DETA/NO treatment, the activity of APX1 increased compared to waterdeprived plants. The combined treatment with DMTU and L-NAME in the water-deprived treatment reduced the activity of APX1. The combined treatment with DMTU and DETA/NO resulted in the increased of APX1 activity and reversed the effects of L-NAME.

Activity of APX2 in H₂O₂-treated well-watered plants showed no change when compared to the untreated control. Under water deficit, an increase in APX2 activity was observed, of which a decrease was observed in the presence of DMTU and L-NAME. The addition of DETA/NO increased the activity of APX2 to a level similar to that of water-deprived samples. However, there was a slight decrease in APX2 activity in L-NAME-treated plants, including the combined DMTU and L-NAME treatments. A similar trend was observed for the combined treatment with DMTU and DETA/NO. Similar trends in changes for the enzymatic activity of APX3 were observed under various treatments.

Densitometry analysis (b) and (c) showed no significant change in the activity of APX 1 and APX2 in response to all treatments. The activity of APX3 under water deficit increased by 15% compared to the untreated control. The H₂O₂ treatment in well-watered plants slightly increased APX3 activity compared to the untreated control. However, the L-NAME treatment reduced APX3 activity by approximately 10% compared to plants exposed to water deficit. Combined treatment with DMTU and DETA/NO showed no change in the activity of APX3 compared to the control and water deficit plants.

UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE



Figure 3.9 In-gel activity for APX in response to various treatments. Assays were done on maize plants that were treated with the various compounds at the V3 stage for a period of a week. In-gel activities of various isoforms in response to treatment with 5 mM DMTU, 0.5 mM H₂O₂, 0.5

mM LNAME, 50 μ M DETA/NO, 5 mM DMTU + 0.5 mM LNAME, 5 mM DMTU + 50 μ M DETA/NO are shown for APX as detected in maize leaves (A) from which pixel intensities were analyzed; (b)APX1, (c) APX2 and (d) APX3. Different letters indicate the differences between means at p < 0.05. Values are means ± SE (N=3).

3.4 Modulation of NO and H₂O₂ influences ascorbate peroxidase activity

In Figure 3.10 for maize roots, three APX isoforms were detected on native PAGE. The intensity of APX2 was higher than that of APX1 and APX3. APX1 intensity slightly increased in the H₂O₂-treated plants compared to the untreated control. In response to all treatments, the activity of APX showed an increase in the DETA/NO treatment and the combined treatment of DETA/NO + DMTU. In water-deprived plants, APX2 intensity increased compared to the untreated control. Addition of L-NAME in the water-deprived treatment resulted in a decrease in the intensity of the APX2 isoform as well as the combined DMTU and L-NAME treatment, whereas APX2 intensity increased in the DETA/NO treatment. APX3 isoform indicated no significant difference in all the various treatments.




Figure 3.9 In-gel activity of APX isozymes in response to the various treatments. Assays were done on maize plants which were subjected to the various treatments at the V3 stage for a period of a week after 21 days of no watering. In-gel activities of various isoforms in response to treatment with 5 mM DMTU, 0.5 mM H₂O₂, 0.5 mM L-NAME, 50 μ M DETA/NO, 5 mM DMTU + 0.5 mM L-NAME, 5 mM DMTU + 50 μ M DETA/NO are shown for APX as detected in maize leaves (A) from which pixel intensities were analyzed (b)APX1, (c) APX2 and (d) APX3. The error bars signify standard deviation, bars with the same letters are statistically similar, where p <0.05.

Enzymatic activity of APX isoform determined in the pixel intensity showed an increase of 15% in response to addition of DETA/NO and DMTU, a trend observed in all three APX isoforms in response to the various treatments. Application of L-NAME increased APX enzymatic activity by approximately 5%. The combined treatment with DMTU and L-NAME reduced APX activity by 10%.

3.5 Catalase response on various treatments in maize leaves during water stress

In Figure 3.11 Changes in catalase isozymes activities were determined and only one CAT isozyme was detected on maize leaves in response to all various treatments. The activity of CAT decreased in H₂O₂-treated plants compared to the untreated control. In water deficit plants, the CAT activity was equivalent to the untreated control. The addition of DMTU to water-deprived plants resulted in an increase in CAT activity whereas treatment of water-deprived plants with L-NAME caused a slight decrease in CAT activity. Application of DETA/NO increased the activity of CAT compared to the untreated control plants. The combined treatment with DMTU and L-NAME decreased CAT activity while the combined treatment with DMTU and DETA/NO treatment slightly increased CAT activity.





Figure 3.11: Response of catalase activity to application of H₂O₂ NO donor, H₂O₂ scavenger and NO Inhibitors. (a) Changes in catalase isozymes activity in maize leaves from plants that were treated with various treatments at V3 stage for a period of 7 days, equal amounts of protein was loaded for all treatments (0.5 mM H₂O₂, 0.5 mM L-NAME, 5 mM DMTU, 50 μ M DETA/NO). (b) Effect of various treatments on enzyme activity of catalase estimated from pixel intensities of band in native PAGE. Error bars represent the means (± SE; n= 3) of three independent experiments. Different letters above the bars indicate means that are statistically different at p < 0.05.

Chapter 4: Discussion

4.1 Drought stress reduces water status in maize

During water deficit, many physiological and biochemical processes are disturbed. Understanding the multiple mechanisms by which plants respond to water stress is important in enhancing crop drought tolerance (Deikman *et al.* 2012, Juenger 2013). Leaf RWC is one of the best physiological indices used to assess the degree of water deficit in plant tissue (Alizade, et al., 2002). Low RWC in plants under drought stress was observed in this study. The reduction in leaf RWC was as a result of sensitivity of plant tissue to changes in water status (Cechin et al., 2006). Observations were consistent with many investigations which showed that when leaves are subjected to drought, leaves exhibit reductions in RWC and water potential (Kyparissis et al., 1995; Scarascia-Mugnozza et al., 1996; Li and Van Staden, 1998a, b; Decov et al., 2000; Nayyar and Gupta, 2006). Application of DMTU in water-deprived maize leaves conferred water deficit tolerance by maintaining more water than the untreated water-deprived plants. Similar observations were found on different species whereby 5 mM DMTU inhibited H₂O₂ toxic effects and therefore retaining water status in plants (Li et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2019).

4.2 Osmolyte accumulation induced water retention on maize seedlings

During drought stress, plants accumulate osmolytes and soluble sugars to maintain the cell turgor (Gill et al., 2010). Proline is accumulated in the cytoplasm and chloroplast stroma when the RWC decreases, with their role being to stabilize cellular structures through hydrophilic interactions and hydrogen bonding (Ashraf et al., 2007). In plants, proline content increases more than other amino acids under water stress. In this study proline content in H₂O₂-treated well-watered samples was equivalent to the untreated control, therefore treatment with H₂O₂ had no effect on proline content. Water-deprived maize leaves and roots presented high accumulation of proline, which is in accordance with earlier observations made on maize (Chandrasekar et al., 2000). In the presence of DETA/NO, proline accumulation levels significantly decreased in maize seedlings under water deficit conditions, which is consistent with the studies reported by Lei et

al (2007) whereby DETA/NO was found to act as an antioxidant during water stress conditions on plants and thus limited stress effects. Further, Lei (2007) reported that water stress tolerance was induced by exogenous NO, which was attributed to high accumulation of proline in plants. However, some studies (Zhang et al., 2008) noted that the high accumulation of proline was attributed to the effect that exogenous NO has on the activity of some key enzymes involved in the synthesis of proline. The addition of L-NAME on water-deprived plants blocked DETA/NO effects. In all the various treatments conducted in this study, proline content accumulation was higher in the roots compared to the leaves. The possible reason for this could be that roots retain water and leaves had reduced water status. Proline accumulation is considered as a symptom of a reduced water status of the plant (Hanson et al., 1979).

4.3 Oxidative stress induced under water stress conditions on maize and responses to chemical treatments

The changes that plants undergo as a result of water stress is over-production of ROS, which leads to oxidative damage. Overproduction of ROS to such an extent that the redox homeostasis of plants is disturbed results in lipid peroxidation, which eventually leads to programmed cell death. Hydrogen peroxide is one of O₂ metabolites normally produced by plants. It becomes toxic for the plant when the production levels exceed the scavenging under abiotic and biotic stress conditions, and therefore results in oxidative stress. In examination of oxidative stress on maize plants subjected water deficit, changes in H₂O₂ and MDA content were observed in response to application of various treatments. Under water-deprived conditions, increased levels of H₂O₂ and MDA content were observed both on maize roots and leaves, consistent to the report by Niedzwiedz-Siegien et al. (2004) whereby elevated lipid peroxidation levels were observed during drought stress and by Esfandiari et al., (2007) during salt stress in wheat seedlings. DMTU treatment scavenged H₂O₂ accumulation, however the accumulation of H₂O₂ content was not fully blocked. L-NAME application on water-deprived plants did not inhibit the accumulation of H₂O₂, therefore the MDA content increased. Studies showed that NO donated by the DETA/NO acts as the osmoprotectant during water stress on maize and therefore reduces H₂O₂ content (Noman, Qasim, Shafaqat et al., 2019). Similar results were observed in this study. The effects of

 H_2O_2 scavenger and NO donor were also better demonstrated when combined, which resulted in high reduction of H_2O_2 MDA content. The exogenous application of low concentration of H_2O_2 on maize leaves and roots under well-watered conditions had no effect on H_2O_2 content, instead H_2O_2 levels were equivalent to the untreated control. These findings were in agreement with Fedina et al(2009); Hossain and Fujita (2013), who reported that endogenous H_2O_2 levels were not enhanced by the addition of a low concentration H_2O_2 in seedlings for 24 or 48 h prior to drought stress or salt stress. In this study, increased levels of MDA accumulation were observed in maize leaf during water stress compared to the maize roots.

4.4 Changes in cell viability on water-deprived maize seedling under various

treatments

Oxidative damages described above resulted in cell death as the primary consequent. In plants, NO enhances stress tolerance and it is expected to reverse the effects of oxidative damage. Application of H₂O₂ scavenger and NO donor on water deprived maize seedlings showed positive response towards oxidative damage suggested by the reduction of MDA and H₂O₂ accumulation levels in this study. Furthermore, determination of cell death was of importance in examining the NO inhibitor, H_2O_2 scavenger and NO donor effects on maize. Application of H_2O_2 to waterdeprived maize decreased the level of cell death to the levels equivalent to the untreated control. In response to water-deprived conditions, maize leaves indicated increased levels on cell death, which was reversed by application of DMTU. The exogenous application of 50 µM DETA/NO resulted in decreased cell death levels compared to the water-deprived seedlings, which reflects the protective properties of NO in water deficit stressed plants. These protective properties were restricted when the L-NAME applied. These results were in agreement with Chung et al (2001), who reported that NO can prevent cell death in plants by acting as an antioxidant or antiapoptotic modulator. However NO can also be toxic, causing plant cell death. The toxic and protective effects of NO during water stress are concentration-dependent (Wink et al., 1998). Protective effects of NO were demonstrated in this study at 50 μ M DETA/NO as it was able to reduce cell death levels induced by water deficit on maize leaves.

4.5 NO reduces water stress effects on maize plants

To determinate the relationship between NO and H_2O_2 application in reference to their role in water deficit stress in maize, an NOS inhibitor and H_2O_2 scavenger were applied. Application of H_2O_2 on well-watered plants resulted in a slight increase in NO content, thus suggesting that H_2O_2 under well-watered conditions increases endogenous NO. Restriction of water supply in maize plants resulted in increased NO content, which is possibly due to an increase in H_2O_2 content during water stress as it is known that H_2O_2 induces NO generation (Zeng, Liu et al., 2011). However, the application of DMTU on water deprived samples reduced the content of NO, were consistent to previous reports that H_2O_2 induces the accumulation of NO under-water stress conditions (Uchida et al., 2002). Therefore, the restriction of H_2O_2 accumulation resulted in the reduced levels of NO. Application of L-NAME on water-deprived seedlings reduced the NO level due to inhibition of NOS activity. Reduction of NO by using chemicals such as L-NAME reduced endogenous NO levels, leading to higher stress sensitivity (Hao et al., 2008; Xu et al., 2010a). Application of 50 μ M DETA/NO significantly increased the NO level in water-deprived samples, which is consistent with studies reported by (Farooq et al., 2009; Liao et al., 2012; Rahimi and Boogar et al., 2014) that exogenous NO can reduce the negative effects of water stress.

4.6 Drought stress induced antioxidant enzyme activity in maize

Plants subjected to stress conditions use antioxidant enzymes to scavenge ROS (Wang *et al.*, 2008). In this study, an increase in ROS accumulation was demonstrated by the increase in membrane damage (as indicated by malondialdehyde content) and cell death levels under water stress in maize plants. Consequently, antioxidant enzyme activities were activated to counter the oxidative stress. Superoxide dismutase (SOD) scavenges superoxide (O₂⁻) radicals (Lee and Lee, 2000), producing less harmful H₂O₂ (Tewari et al., 2006). All forms of SOD (MnSOD, Cu/ZnSOD and FeSOD) were activated in response to water stress in maize plants in this study. Maize leaves induced more SOD isoforms than the roots, which may imply that oxidative stress was more severe in the leaves than in roots. The activities of all SOD isoforms increased during drought stress. These results are in agreement with studies in *Brassica napus* L (Abedi et al., 2010), *Sesamum indicu* L cvs (Fazeli et al., 2007) and rice seedlings, where SOD activity increased in

response to drought stress. The obtained results also show an increase in APX activity in maize leaves and roots in response to water deficit, which could be attributed to efforts to prevent oxidative damage caused by the increased levels of H₂O₂. Similar results where APX activity increased in response to water stress were reported by Zlatev et al. (2006) in bean and Chugh et al. (2011) in maize. The activity of CAT decreased in response to water stress when compared to the well-watered plants. A decrease in CAT activity was also observed in a study reported by Pan et al. (2006) in liquorice and by Bakalova et al. (2004) in wheat. Reduction of CAT activity is likely the underlying reason for the elevation of H₂O₂ in response to drought. Another interesting issue could be that CAT is confined to peroxisomes and related organelles and is not typically induced by drought (Smirnoff 1993). Its higher activity during drought exposure would rather be linked to its function probably to detoxify H₂O₂ derived from fatty acid oxidation (important source of energy in senescing tissues) (Simova-Stoilova et al. 2009).

4.7 NO and H₂O₂ inhibition reduced antioxidant enzyme activity under water

stress

Increased SOD activity enhances oxidative stress tolerance (Asada, 1999) and signaling molecules such as nitric oxide (NO) are vital in enhancing SOD activity. Changes in the enzymatic activity were also observed on the obtained results under various treatments with NO donor, NOS inhibitor and H_2O_2 scavenger. The production of NO and H_2O_2 overlaps both spatially and developmentally (Asai et al 2009 and Cui et al 2011). Importantly, H_2O_2 and NO can react with each other and influence the activities of enzymes that alter each other's levels. NO donors caused a rapid decline in H_2O_2 accumulation in both leaves and roots of maize, in contrast to a study described by Pasqualini et al. (2009). An NO donor resulted in high accumulation of H_2O_2 in *N. tabacum* (Pasqualini et al., 2009). Application of H_2O_2 on well-watered plants enhanced the enzymatic activity of SOD in maize roots and leaves (Figure 3.5) Similar findings were reported by Li et at (2011) and Gondim et al (2012), where exogenous application of H_2O_2 enhanced the activities of the antioxidant enzymes SOD, CAT, and APX, and reduced the content of MDA in wheat and maize subjected to salt stress. These results were also in agreement with Jing et al., (2009) studies, who reported that the involvement of exogenous H_2O_2 could increase the

activities of the antioxidant enzymes CAT,SOD, APX, GPOX, DHAR, GR, and the levels of the antioxidants AsA and GSH, resulting in decreased levels of endogenous H₂O₂ in plants under drought stress. Treatment with 50 μM DETA/NO during water stress in maize leaves indicated differential regulation of SOD isoforms whereas the DMTU and L-NAME treatment increased SOD activity, contradicting the findings reported in several studies whereby NO donors increased SOD activity during water stress (Tan et al., 2008) or waterlogging (Wang et al., 2011). However, in maize roots, application of NO donor increased the activity of SOD isoforms under water-deprived conditions (Figure 3.10). Application of NO enhances drought tolerance by increasing antioxidants capacity, to scavenge ROS (Arasimowicz-Jelonek et al., 2009a; Farooq et al., 2009). Application of DETA/NO on maize seedlings subjected to drought enhanced catalase and ascorbate peroxidase activity in both leaves and roots. The effects of NO were inhibited by the addition of the NOS inhibitor, L-NAME shown by the decrease antioxidant enzyme activity. This confirms that the effects seen in the NO donor (DETA/NO) treatments are as a result of NO and dependent on NOS-like activity.

4.8 Conclusion & Future Aspects

 H_2O_2 and NO act in concert and strengthen the antioxidant defense system to alleviate oxidative stress arising from water deficit stress in maize. In this study, results illustrate that H_2O_2 acts upstream of NO in the water deficit stress-induced antioxidant defense. Water deficit stress induced an NO burst, which was inhibited by treatment with an H_2O_2 scavenger, suggesting that NO synthesis might be the result of H_2O_2 accumulation. Treatment with L-NAME showed no effects on water deficit stress-induced H_2O_2 generation, indicating that NOS-like activity is not required for the initial H_2O_2 accumulation. Taken together, these results suggest that water deficit stress-induced H_2O_2 triggers the production of NO and eventually regulates the antioxidant defense systems in maize plants. In view of the fact that exogenous application of NO to *Zea mays* plants led to reduced levels of H_2O_2 and improved the cell viability in NOS inhibited *Zea mays*, suggests that NO mobilized the enzymatic antioxidant defense system. For efficient scavenging of ROS in the cell, APX catalyzes the conversion of H_2O_2 into water. It is well established that both NO and H_2O_2 take an active part in the signal cascade in response to abiotic

stress. However, a different picture emerged that NO donor acutely decreased H₂O₂ content after wounding in sweet potato, implying that NO acts in concert with H_2O_2 in response to mechanical wounding . Nevertheless, H_2O_2 and NO interact in a variety of patterns, and although some studies have shown that NO treatment can induce the production of H₂O₂, other studies have shown opposite results. The discrepancy between these studies implies that some unknown signaling pathways are yet to be explained. For example, in cucumber plants, NO acted downstream of H₂O₂ in brassinosteroid-induced abiotic stress tolerance, consistent with the findings of this study. Thus, the relationship between H_2O_2 and NO in signal transduction may be more complicated than the simple linear manner in which H₂O₂ induces NO or vice versa. In addition, H₂O₂ and NO may crosstalk differently under different stresses, species, and plant status. Therefore, the question of the relationship between H₂O₂ accumulation and NO production in maize plants exposed to water stress is partially understood. Further experiments are still needed to fully establish the relationship between H₂O₂ and NO and its possible function in different plants species under various conditions. Additional work using proteomic and molecular approaches are required to understand the detailed mechanism of NO and H₂O₂induced water deficit stress tolerance.

> UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

Chapter 5

References

Alboresi A, Dall'osto L, Aprile A, Carillo P, Roncaglia E, Cattivelli L, Bassi R. 2011.Reactive oxygen species and transcript analysis upon excess light treatment in wild-type Arabidopsis thaliana vs. a photosensitive mutant lacking zeaxanthin and lutein. *BMC Plant Biology*. 11:62.

Alizadeh A. 2002. Soil, Water and Plants Relationship 3rd Edn, Emam Reza University Press, Mashhad, Iran, ISBN: 964-6582-21-4.

Allen JF, Hall DO. 1973. Superoxide reduction as a mechanism of ascorbate-stimulated oxygen uptake by isolated chloroplasts. *Biochemistry Biophysical Resource Communication*. 52, pp.856– 862.

Alscher RG. 1989. Biosynthesis and antioxidant function of glutathione in plants. *Plant Physiology*. 77:457–464.

Asada K. 1999. The water-water cycle in chloroplasts: scavenging of active oxygens and dissipation of excess photons. *Annual Revolution on Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology*. 50601–639.

WESTERN CAPE

Asada K. 2006. Production and scavenging of reactive oxygen species in chloroplasts and their functions. *Plant Physiolology*. 141, pp.391–396.

Asai S, Yoshioka H. 2009. Nitric oxide as a partner of reactive oxygen species participates in disease resistance to necrotrophic pathogen *Botrytis cinereal* in *Nicotiana benthamiana*. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interact* 22, pp. 619–629.

Anjum SA, Wang LC, Farooq M, Hussain M, Xue LL, and Zou CM. 2011. Brassinolide application improves the drought tolerance in maize through modulation of enzymatic antioxidants and leaf gas exchange. *Journal of Agronomy. Crop science*. 197, 177-185

Ashraf MA, Rasheed R, Hussain I, Iqbal M, Haider MZ, Parveen S. 2014. Hydrogen peroxide modulates antioxidant system and nutrient relation in maize (*Zea mays* L.) underwater-deficit conditions. *Acta Agronomy Soil Science*. 61, pp.507–523.

Bai X, Yang L, Tian M, Chen J, Shi J, Yang Y. 2011. Nitric Oxide enhances desiccation tolerance of recalcitrant *antiaris toxicaria* seeds via protein S-nitrosylation and carbonylation. PLoS ONE 6, pp.20714.

Bai LP, Sui G, Ge T, Sun ZH, Lu YY, Zhou GS. 2006. Effect of soil drought stress on leaf water status, membrane permeability and enzymatic antioxidant system of maize. *Pedosphere*. 16, pp.326–332.

Barr HD and Weatherley PE. 1962. A re-examination of the relative turgidity technique for estimating water deficit in leaves. *Aust. Journal Biology Science* 15, pp. 413-428.

Bates L, Waldren R and Teare I. 1973. Rapid determination of free proline for water stress studies *Plant Soil* 39(1), pp. 205-207.

Begara-Morales JC, Sánchez-Calvo B, Chaki M, Valderrama R, Mata-Pérez C, López-Jaramillo J. 2014. Dual regulation of cytosolic ascorbate peroxidase (APX) by tyrosine nitration and S-nitrosylation. *Journal of Experimental. Botany*. 65, pp.527–538.

Beligni MV, Lamattina L . 2001. Nitric oxide: A non-traditional regulator of plant growth. *Trends in Plant Science* 6, pp.508.

WESTERN CAPE

Belle JA and Hlalele MB. 2015. Vulnerability Assessment of Agricultural Drought Hazard: A case of Koti-Se Phola community Council. J *Geography and natural disasters* 5, pp.143-149.

Bennett DJ and Jennings RC. 2013. Successful agricultural innovation in emerging economies: *new genetic technologies for global food production:* Cambridge University Press.

Blackman SA, Obendorf RL and Leopold. 1995. Desiccation tolerance in developing soybean seeds: The role of stress proteins. *Plant Physiology.*, 93, pp.630-638.

Blokhina OE. Virolainen and Fagerstedt KV. 2003. Antioxidants, oxidative damage and oxygen deprivation stress. *Annual Botany*, 91, pp. 179-194.

Bowler C and Fluhr R. 2000. The role of calcium and activated oxygens as signals for controlling cross-tolerance. *Trends in Plant Science* 5,241–245.

Bruck R, Aeed H, Shirin H, Matas Z, Zaidel L, Avni Y. 1999. The hydroxyl radical scavengers dimethylsulfoxide and dimethylthiourea protect rats against thioacetamide-induced fulminant hepatic failure. *Journal of Hepatol.* 31 (1), pp. 27-38.

Bussis D, Kauder F, Heineke D. 1998. Acclimation of potato plants to polyethylene glycol-induced water deficit. I. photosynthesis and metabolism. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 49, pp.1349–1360.

Butt YK, Lum JH, Lo SC .2003. proteomic identification of plant proteins probed by mammalian nitric oxide synthase antibodies. *Planta* 216, 762-771.

Campos MKF, Carvahol K, Souza FS, Marur CJ, Pereira LFP, Bespalhok Filho JC, Vierai, LGE. 2011. Drought tolerance and antioxidant enzymatic activity in transgenic 'Swingle' citrumelo plants over-accumulating proline. *Environment and Experimental Botany*, 72(2), pp. 242-250.

Ceccarelli S and Grando S. 1996. Drought as a Challenge for the Plant Breeder. *Plant Growth Regulation*, 20, pp. 149–155.

Chalapathi Rao ASV and Reddy AR. 2008. Glutathione reductase: a putative redox regulatory system in plant cells. In: Khan NA, Singh S, Umar S (eds) Sulfur assimilation and abiotic stresses in plants. Springer, Berlin, pp 111–147.

Challinor AJ, Wheel TR, Garforth C, Craufurd P and Kassam A. 2007. Assessing the vulnerability of food crop systems in Africa to Climate Change. *Climatic Change* 83, pp.381-399.

Chandok MR, Ytterberg AJ, van Wijk JK and Klesing Df. 2003. The pathogen-inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) in plants is a variant of the P protein of the glycine decarboxylase complex. *cell* 113(4) :469-482.

Chapman SC, Chakraborty S, Dreccer MF and Howden SM. 2012. Plant adaptation to climate change opportunities and priorities in breeding. *Crop and Pasture Science*. 63(3), pp.251–268.

Chaves M, Flexas J and Pinheiro C. 2009. Photosynthesis under drought and salt stress: regulation mechanisms from whole plant to cell. *Annals of Botany*, 103(4), pp.551–560.

Cheng T, Chen J, EF A, Wang P, Wang G and Hu X. 2015. Quantitative proteomics analysis reveals that S-nitrosoglutathione reductase (GSNOR) and nitric oxide signaling enhance poplar defense against chilling stress. *Planta* 242, pp. 1361–1390.

Chen T, van der Werf GR, de Jeu RAM, Wang G and Dolman AJ. 2013. A global analysis of the impact of drought on net primary productivity. *Hydraulics Earth System Sci.* 17, pp.3885–3894.

Clark D, Durner J, Navarre DA and Klessig DF. 2000. Nitric oxide inhibition of tobacco catalase and ascorbate peroxidase. 13, pp1380–1384.

Corpas FJ, Palma JM, Sandalio LM, Valderrama R, Barroso JB and Del Rio LA. 2008. Peroxisomal xanthine oxidoreductase: Characterization of the enzyme from pea (Pisum sativum L.) leaves. *Journal of Plant Physiology*. 165, pp.1319–1330.

Correa-Aragunde N, Foresi N and Lamattina L. 2015. Nitric oxide is a ubiquitous signal for maintaining redox balance in plant cells: regulation of ascorbate peroxidase as a case study. *Journal of Experimental Botany.* 66, pp.2913–2921.

Crawford NM, Galli M, Tischner R, Heimer YM, Okamoto M and Mack A. 2006. Response to Plant nitric oxide synthase: *back to square one. Trends in Plant Science* 11, pp.526–527.

Cui JX, Zhou YH, Ding JG, Xia XJ, Shi K. 2011. Role of nitric oxide in hydrogen peroxide-dependent induction of abiotic stress tolerance by brassinosteroids in cucumber. Plant Cell Environmental 34, pp.347–358.

Curtis WE, Muldrow ME, Parker NB, Barkley R, Linas SL and Repine JE. 1988. N, N¢dimethylthiourea dioxide formation from N, N¢-dimethylthiourea reflects hydrogen peroxide concentrations in simple biological systems. Production of Natural Science Academic. . U.S.A. 85 (10), pp. 3422-3425.

Dash S and Mohanty N. 2001. Evaluation of Assays for the Analysis of Thermo-tolerance and Recovery Potentials of Seedlings of Wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) Cultivars. Journal of Plant *Physiology*, **158**(9), pp. 1153–1165.

Dean JV and Harper JE. 1988. The conversion of nitrite to nitrogen oxide (s) by the constitutive NAD(P)H-nitrate reductase enzyme from soybean. Plant Physiology 88, pp.389

Deikman J M. Petracek and Heard JE. 2012. Drought tolerance through biotechnology: improving translation from the laboratory to farmers' fields. Current Opinion Biotechnology. 23, pp.243-250.

Delledonne M. 2005. NO news is good news for plants. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 8, pp. WESTERN CAPE 390-396.

Del Río LA and Donaldson RP. 1995. Production of superoxide radicals in glyoxysomal membranes from castor bean endosperm. Journal of Plant Physiology. 146, pp. 283–287.

del Río LA, Sandalio LM, Altomare DA and Zilinskas BA. 2003. Mitochondrial and peroxisomal manganese superoxide dismutase: differential expression during leaf senescence Journal of Experimental Botany, 54, 923–933.

Desikan R, Cheung MK, Bright J, Henson D, Hancock JT and Neill SJ. 2004. ABA, hydrogen peroxide and nitric oxide signalling in stomatal guard cells. Journal of Experimental Botany 55, pp.205-212.

http://etd.uwc.ac.za/

Desikan R, Burnett EC, Hancock JT, Neill SJ. 1998b. Harpin and hydrogen peroxide induce the expression of a homologue of gp91-*phox* in *Arabidopsis thaliana* suspension cultures. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 49, 1767–1771.

Department of Agriculture forestry and fisheries. 2017. Trends in Agricultural sector.

Dracup JA, Lee KS and Paulson ED. 1980. On definition of droughts. *Water Resource*. 16, pp. 297–302.

Du S, Zhang R, Zhang P, Liu H, Yan M and Chen N. 2015. Elevated CO2-induced production of nitric oxide (NO) by NO synthase differentially affects nitrate reductase activity in Arabidopsis plants under different nitrate supplies. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. 67, pp. 893–904.

Du S, Zhang Y, Lin X, Wang Y and Tang C. 2008. Regulation of nitrate reductase by nitric oxide in Chinese cabbage pakchoi (*Brassica chinensis L.*). *Plant Cell Environmental*. 31, pp. 195–204

Edwards EA, Rawsthorne S and Mullineaux PM. 1990. Subcellular distribution of multiple forms of glutathione reductase in leaves of pea (*Pisum sativum* L.). *Planta* 180:278–284.

Elliott J, Deryng D, Müller C, Frieler K, Konzmann M, Gerten D. 2014. Constraints and potentials of future irrigation water availability on agricultural production under climate change. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 111(9), pp. 3239–44.

Esfandiari E, Shekeri F and Esfandiari M. 2007. The effects of salt stress on antioxidant enzymes activity and lipid peroxidation on the wheat seedling. *Natural Botany Horticulture Agronomy.* 35 (1), pp. 48-56.

FAO. Climate Change and Food Security 2008. A Framework Document. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.

Feechan A, Kwon E, Yuri B, Wang Y, Pallas J and Loake G. 2005. A central role for S-nitrosothiols in plant disease resistance. *Production of Natural Academic Science* U.S.A. 102, pp. 8054–8059.

Fischer BB, Krieger-Liszkay A, Hideg E, Snyrychova I, Wiesendanger M and Eggen RI. 2007. Role of singlet oxygen in chloroplast to nucleus retrograde signaling in chlamydomonas reinhardtii. *FEBS Lett*. 581, pp. 5555–5560.

Fox RB. 1984. Prevention of granulocyte-mediated oxidant lung injury in rats by a hydroxyl radical scavenger, dimethylthiourea. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 74 (4), 1456-1464.

Foyer CH and Noctor G. 2005. Oxidant and antioxidant signalling in plants: a re- evaluation of the concept of oxidative stress in a physiological context. *Plant Cell Environ.* 29, 1056-1107

Fröhlich A and Durner J. 2011. The hunt for plant nitric oxide synthase (NOS): is one really needed? *Plant Science*. 181, pp. 401–404.

Frungillo L, Skelly MJ, Loake GJ, Spoel SH and Salgado I. 2014. S-nitrosothiols regulate nitric oxide production and storage in plants through the nitrogen assimilation pathway. *Natural Communication* 5, pp. 1–10.

Gaff DF and Okong'O-Ogola O. 1971. The use of non-permeating pigments for testing the survival of cells. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. 22, pp. 756-758.

Gan, Wu X, Zhong Y. 2015. Exogenously applied nitric oxide enhances the drought tolerance in Hulless barley. *Proc. Japan Academia*. Ser. A Math.Sci.91,52–56.

García-Mata C, Lamattina L. 2001. Nitric oxide induces stomatal closure and enhances the adaptive plant responses against drought stress. *Plant Physiology*.126, 1196-1204.

Garcia-Mata C, Lamattina L. 2003. Nitric oxide regulates K⁺ and Cl⁻ channels in guard cells through a subset of abscisic acid-evoked signaling pathways. *Trends of Plant Science* 8, 20.

García-Mata C, Lamattina L. 2013. Gasotransmitters are emerging as new guard cell signaling molecules and regulators of gas exchange. *Plant Science*. 201-202,66–73.

Gill SS, Tuteja N. 2010. Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant machinery in abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. *Plant Physiology Biochemistry*. 48, pp. 909–930.



Gould KS, Lamotte O, Klinguer A, Pugin A and Wendehenne D. 2003. Nitric oxide production in tobacco leaf cells: a generalized stress response. *Plant, Cell & Environment* 26, pp. 1851–1862.

Gunasekera D and Berkowitz GA 1992. Evaluation of contrasting cellular-level acclimation responses to leaf water deficts in three wheat genotypes. *Plant Science*. 86, pp. 1-12.

Guo FQ, Okamoto M and Crawford NM. 2003. Identification of a plant nitric oxide synthase gene involved in hormonal signaling. *Science* 303,pp. 100-103.

Gupta KJ, Fernie AR, Kaiser WM and van Dongen JT. 2011a. On the origins of nitric oxide. *Trends Plant Science*. 16, pp. 160–168.

Han C, Liu Q and Yang Y. 2009. Short-term effects of experimental warming and enhanced ultraviolet-B radiation on photosynthesis and antioxidant defense of *Picea asperata* seedlings, *Plant Growth Regulation*, 58(2), pp. 153–162.

Hare PD, Cress WA. 1997. Metabolic implications of stress-induced proline accumulation in plants. *Plant Growth Regulation*, 21(2), pp. 79-102.

Hebelstrup KH, Shahb JK and Igamberdiev AU. 2013. The role of nitric oxide and hemoglobin in plant development and morphogenesis. *Physiol. Plant.* 148, pp. 457–469.

Hebelstrup KH. 2012. Haemoglobin modulates NO emission and hyponasty under hypoxiarelated stress in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. 63, pp. 5581–5591.

Hebelstrup KH. 2011. An assessment of the biotechnological use of hemoglobin modulation in cereals. *Plant Physiology.* 150, pp. 593–603.

Hetherington AM and Woodward FI. 2003. The role of stomata in sensing and driving environmental change. *Nature* 424, pp. 901–908.

Hill RD. 2012. Non-symbiotic haemoglobins-What's happening beyond nitric oxide scavenging? *AoB Plants:* ls004.doi:10.1093/aobpla/pls004.

Hirt H. 1997. Multiple roles of MAP kinases in plant signal transduction. *Trends in Plant Science* 2,11–15.

Hodges DM, DeLong JM, Forney CF, Prange RK. 1999. Improving the thiobarbituric acid–reactive– substances assay for estimating lipid peroxidation in plant tissues containing anthocyanin and other interfering compounds. *Planta*, 207, pp. 604–611.

Holzmeister C, Gaupels F, Geerlof A, Sattler M and Durner J. 2015. Differential inhibition of arabidopsis superoxide dismutases by peroxynitrite mediated tyrosine nitration. *Journal of Experimental Botany.* 66, pp. 989–999.

Hossain MA, Nakano Y and Asada K. 1984. Monodehydroascorbate reductase in spinachchloroplasts and its participation in regeneration of ascorbate for scavenging hydrogen-peroxide. *Plant Cell Physiol*ogy. 25, 385–395.

Hossain MA and Asada K. 1985. Monodehydroascorbate reductase from cucumber is a flavin adenine dinucleotide enzyme. *J Biology Chem* 260, 2920–2926.

Hossain MA and Fujita M. 2013. Hydrogen peroxide priming stimulates drought tolerance in mustard (*Brassicajuncea L.*). *Plant Gene Trait.* 4, pp. 109–123.

Hulaev V, Oliver DJ. 2006. Metabolic and proteomic markers for oxidative stress. New tools for reactive oxygen species research. *Plant Physiology*, 141, pp. 367–372.

Hu X, Jiang M, Zhang J, Zhang A, Lin F, Tan M. 2007. Calcium calmodulin is required for abscisic acid-induced antioxidant defense and functions both upstream and downstream of H₂O₂ production in leaves of maize (Zea mays) plants. *New Phytologist* 173, pp. 27–38.

IFRC 2011. Drought in the Horn of Africa: Preventing the next disaster. International Federation of the Red Cross and Red Cross Crescent Societies. Geneva, Switzerland.

Igamberdiev AU, Bykova NV. & Hill RD. 2011. Structural and Functional Properties of Class 1, *Plant Hemoglobins. lubmb Life* 63, pp.146–152.

Izabela M, Ilona S, Edyta F, Maria F, Stanisław G and Maciej T.G. 2013. Impact of osmotic stress on physiological and biochemical characteristics in drought susceptible and drought-resistant wheat genotypes. *Acta. Physiologae Plantae*, 35, pp. 451-461.

Kadam NN, Xiao G, Melgar RJ, Bahuguna RN, Quinones C, Tamilselvan A. 2014. Agronomic and physiological responses to high temperature, drought, and elevated CO₂ interactions in cereals. *Advances in Agronomy*. 127, pp.111–56.

Kaminaka H, Morita S, Nakajima M, Masumura T, Tanaka K. 1998. Gene cloning and expression of cytosolic glutathione reductase in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Plant Cell Physiology*. 39 (1998), pp. 1269-1280.

Karim MR, Rahman MA. 2014. Drought risk management for increased cereal production in Asian least developed countries. *Weather and Climate Extremes*.10, p.004.

Kaur G, Sharma A, Guruprasad K, Pati PK. 2014. Versatile roles of plant NADPH oxidases and emerging concepts. *Biotechnology Advanced*. 32, pp. 551–563.

Khan NA, Gill S, Umar S. 2008. Sulfur Assimilation and Abiotic Stress in Plants. *Springer* pp. 111-114. UNIVERSITY of the

Kim C, Meskauskiene R, Apel K, Laloi C. 2008. No single way to understand singlet oxygen signalling in plants. *EMBO Rep.* 9, pp. 435–439.

Krasnovsky AA, Jr. 1998. Singlet molecular oxygen in photobiochemical systems: IR phosphorescence studies. *Membrane Cell Biology*. 12, pp.665–690.

Krieger-Liszkay A. 2005. Singlet oxygen production in photosynthesis. *Journal Experimental Botany.* 56, pp. 337–346.

Kwak JM, Mori IC, Pei ZM, Leonhardt N, Torres MA, Dangl JL, Bloom RE, Bodde S, Jones JD, Schroeder JI. 2003. NADPH oxidase atrobhd and atrohf genes function in ROS-dependent aba signaling in Arabidopsis. *EMBO Journal.* 22:2623–2633.

Larson RA. 1988. The antioxidants of higher plants. Phytochemistry. 27, pp. 969–978.

Moran JF, Becan M, Iturbe-Ormaetyl I, Frechilla S, Klucas RV, Aparicio-Tejo P. 1994. Drought induces oxidative stresses in pea plants. *Planta*. 194, pp. 346–352.

Lazacano-Ferrat I and Lovat CJ. 1999. Relationship between relative water content, nitrogen pools, and growth of Phaseolus vulgaris L and P. acutifolius A. Gray during water deficit. *Crop Science* 39, pp. 467-475.

Lewis CP, Dinsdale D and Nemery B. 1994. Potentiation of oxidant-induced toxicity in hamster lung slices by dimethylthiourea. *Free Radical Biology Med.* 16 (5), pp. 561-569.

Li F, Cook S, Geballe GT and Burch WR Jr. 2000. Rainwater Harvesting Agriculture: An Integrated System for Water Management on Rain fed Land in China's Semiarid Areas. *Ambio.* 29(8), pp.477–83.

Li L, Shu S and Xu Qing. 2017. No accumulation alleviates H_2O_2 -dependent oxidative damage induces by $Ca(NO_3)^2$ stress in the leaves of pumpkin-grafted cucumber seedlings. *Physiological Plantarum* 160: 33-45.

Lin AH, Wang YQ, Tang JY, Xui P and Li CL. 2012. Nitric oxide and protein S-nitrosylation are integral to hydrogen peroxide-induced leaf cell death in rice. *Plant Physiology* 158, pp. 451–464. Lindermayr C, Saalbach G, and Durner J. 2005. Proteomic identification of S -nitrosylated proteins. Plant Physiology. 137, pp. 921–930.

Liu L, Hausladen A, Zeng M, Que L, Heitman J and Stamler JS. 2001. A metabolic enzyme for Snitrosothiol conserved from bacteria to humans. *Nature* 410, pp. 490–494.

Liu Y, Fiskum G, Schubert D. 2002. Generation of reactive oxygen species by mitochpdrial electron transport chain. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 80, pp. 780-787

Liu Y, Sun X, Jiang W. 2019. Protective effects of dimethylthiourea against hydrogen peroxideinduced oxidative stress in hepatic L02 cell. *International Journal Clinical Experiment Med.*12(5):5114-5121 Lozano-Juste J, Colom-Moreno R and León J. 2011. In vivo protein tyrosine nitration in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. 62, pp. 3501–3517

Lobell DB, Schlenker W, Costa-Roberts J. 2011. Climate trends and global crop production since 1980. *Science*. 333(6042), pp. 616–20.

Lobell DB, Burke MB, Tebaldi C, Mastrandrea MD, Falcon WP and Naylor RL. 2008. Prioritizing climate change adaptation needs for food security in 2030. *Science*. 319(5863), pp. 607–10.

McRae DG, Thompson JE. 1983. Senescence-dependent changes in superoxide anion production by illuminated chloroplasts from bean leaves. *Planta*. 158, pp. 185–193

Meyer RF and Boyer JS. 1981. Osmoregulation solute distribution and growth in soybean seedlings having low water potential. *Planta*, 151, pp. 482-489.

Mileti DS. 1999. Disaster by Design: A Reassessment of Natural hazard in United states, Joseph Henry Press, Washington, D.C.

Mishra S, Jha AB and Dubey RS. 2011. Arsenite treatment induces oxidative stress, upregulates antioxidant system, and causes phytochelatin synthesis in rice seedlings, *Protoplasma* 248 (3), pp. 565–577.

UNIVERSITY of the

Mniki S. 2009. Socio Economic impact of Drought induced disaster on farm owners of Nkokobe Local Municipality. Bloemfontein: UFS. (Dissertation MDM).

Morker KH, Roberts MR. 2011. Light as both an input and an output of wound-induced reactive oxygen formation in Arabidopsis leaves. *Plant Signal Behaviour*. 6, pp.1087–1089.

Mustilli AC, Merlot S, Vavasseur A, Fenzi F and Giraudat J. 2002. Arabidopsis OST1 protein kinase mediates the regulation of stomatal aperture by abscisic acid and acts upstream of reactive oxygen species production. Plant Cell 14: 308–3099.

National Drought Mitigation Center (NDMC) 2012. What is drought? Available on the website : http://drought.unl.edu/portals/0/docs/10StepProcess.pdf Niedzwiedz-Siegien I, Bogatek-Leszczynska R, Côme D and Corbineau F. 2004. Effects on drying rate on dehydration sensitivity of excised wheat seedlings shoot as related to sucrose metabolism and antioxidant enzyme activities. *Plant Science*. 167, pp. 879-888.

Ngaka MJ. 2011. Drought preparedness, impact and response: A case of Eastern Cape and Free State provinces of South Africa. J Disaster Risk Studies. 4, pp. 47-57.

Noman H, Qaim A, Shafaqat. 2019. Use of nitric oxide and hydrogen peroxide for better yield of wheat *(Triticum aestivum* L.) under water deficit conditions: Growth, osmoregulation and antioxidant defense mechanism. *Plants* 9, 285.

Olaleye LO. 2010. Drought Coping Mechanisms: A Case Study of Small-Scale Farmers in

Motheo District of the Free State Province. University of South Africa.

Op den Camp RGL, Przybyla D, Ochsenbein C, Laloi C, Kim C, Danon A, Wagner D, Hideg É, Göbel C and Feussner I. 2003. Rapid induction of distinct stress responses after the release of singlet oxygen in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell*.15, pp. 2320–2332.

Oprisko MJ, Green RL, Beard JB and Gates CE. 1990. Vital staining of root hairs in 12 warm-season perennial grasses. *Crop Science* 30, pp. 947-950.

Ortega-Galisteo AP, Rodríguez-Serrano M, Pazmiño DM, Gupta DK, Sandalio LM and Romero-Puertas MC. 2012. S-nitrosylated proteins in pea (Pisum sativum L.) leaf peroxisomes: changes under abiotic stress. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. 63, pp. 2089–2103.

Pagnussat GC, Lanteri ML, Lombardo MC and Lamattina L. 2004. Nitric oxide mediates the indoleacetic acid activation of a mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade involved in adventitious root formation. *Plant Physiology* 135, pp. 279–286.

Parker NB, Berger EM, Curtis WE, Muldrow ME, Linas SL and Repine JE. 1985. Hydrogen peroxide causes dimethylthiourea consumption while hydroxyl radical causes dimethyl sulfoxide consumption in vitro. *Journal of Free Radicals Biology Med*.1 (5-6), pp.415-419.

Pastori GM and Del Rio LA. 1997. Natural senescence of pea leaves an activated oxygen-mediated function for peroxisomes. *Plant Physiol.* 113, pp. 411–418.

Pasqualini S, Meier S, Gehring C, Madeo L, Fornaciari M, Romano B. 2009. Ozone and nitric oxide induce cGMP-dependent and-independent transcription of defence genes in tobacco. *New Phytology*. 181, pp. 860–870.

Pattanaik U and Prasad K. 2001. Reactive oxygen species and endotoxic shock: effect of dimethylthiourea. J. Cardiovasc. *Pharmacology Theory.* 6 (3), pp. 273-285.

Pei Z-M, Murata Y, Benning G, Thomine S, Klusener B, Allen GJ, Grill E and Schroeder JI. 2000. Calcium channels activated by hydrogen peroxide mediate abscisic acid signalling in guard cells. *Nature* 406,731–734.

Perazzolli M, Romero-Puertas MC and Delledonne M. 2006. Modulation of nitric oxide bioactivity by plant haemoglobins. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 57, pp. 479–488.

Pereira LS, Cordery I and Iacovides I. 2009. Coping with water scarcity. In Addressing the Challenges; *Springer Science and Business Media*: Dordrecht, The Netherlands. 382.

Pospíšil P, Šnyrychová I and Nauš J. 2007. Dark production of reactive oxygen species in photosystem II membrane particles at elevated temperature: EPR spin-trapping study. *Biochim. Biophysiology*. Acta. 1767, pp. 854–859

Ranum P, Peña-Rosas JP and Garcia-Casal MN. 2014. Global Maize Production, Utilization and Consumption. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1312(1), pp. 105–112

Ramalho JC, Lauriano JA and Nunes MA. 2000. Changes in photosynthetic perfomance of Ceratonia siliqua in summer. *Photosynthetica*, 38, pp. 393-396

Recknagal RO and Glende EA. 1984. Oxygen radicals in biological systems, *Methods in Enzymology*, L. Packer, Ed., 105, pp. 331–337, Academic Press, New York, USA

Rentel MC, Lecourieux D, Ouaked F, Usher SL, Petersen L,Okamoto H, Knight H, Peck SC, Grierson CS, Hirt H and Knight MR. 2004. OXI1 kinase is necessary for oxidative burst-mediated signalling in Arabidopsis. *Nature* 427, pp. 858–861.

Rezaie H and Borzooei A. 2006 Effects of water stress on antioxidant activity and physiological

http://etd.uwc.ac.za/

characteristics of wheat. In: First International Conference on the Theory and Practices in Biological Water Saving (ICTPB), May 21–22, p. 88.

Robinson M and Bunce JA. 2000. Influence of drought-induced water stress on soybean and spinach leaf ascorbate-dehydroascorbate level and redox status. *International Journal Plant Science*. 161, pp. 271–279.

Rockel P, Strube F, Rockel A, Wildt J and Kaiser WM. 2002. Regulation of nitric oxide (NO) production by plant nitrate reductase in vivo and in vitro. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. 53, pp.103–110.

Rosenwasser S, Rot I, Sollner E, Meyer AJ, Smith Y, Leviatan N, Fluhr R, Friedman H. 2011. Organelles contribute differentially to reactive oxygen species-related events during extended darkness. *Plant Physiology*. 156, pp. 185–201.

Romero-Puertas MC, Laxa M, Mattè A, Zaninotto F, Finkemeier I, Jones AM . 2007. S-nitrosylation of peroxiredoxin II E promotes peroxynitrite-mediated tyrosine nitration. *Plant Cell* 19, pp. 4120–4130.

Ruixin S, Kaibo W, Zhouping S. 2009. Cytokini-induced photosynthetic adaptability of Zea mays L. to drought stress associated with nitric oxide signal: Probed by ESR spectroscopy and fast OJIP fluorescence rise. *Journal of Plant Physiology*. 167(6), pp. 472-479.

Rustérucci C, Espunya MC, Díaz M, Chabannes M and Martínez MC. 2007. S-nitrosoglutathione reductase affords protection against pathogens in Arabidopsis, both locally and systemically. *Plant Physiology.* 143, pp. 1282–1292.

Sagi M, Fluhr R. 2006. Production of reactive oxygen species by plant NADPH oxidases. *Plant Physiology*. 141, pp. 336–340.

Sakamoto A, Ueda M and Morikawa H. 2002. Arabidopsis glutathione dependent formaldehyde dehydrogenase is an S-nitrosoglutathione reductase. *FEBS Letter*. 515, pp. 20–24.

http://etd.uwc.ac.za/

Sandalio LM, Fernandez VM, Ruperez FL and Del Rio LA. 1988. Superoxide free radicals are produced in glyoxysomes. *Plant Physiology*: 1–4.

Sandalio L, Rodríguez-Serrano M, Romero-Puertas M and del Río LA. 2013. Role of peroxisomes as a source of reactive oxygen species (ROS) signaling molecules. *Subcellular Biochemistry* 69, pp.231–255.

Sano S and Asada K 1994. cDNA cloning of monodehydroascorbate radical reductase from cucumber: a high-degree of homology in terms of amino acid sequence between this enzyme and bacterial flavoenzymes. *Plant Cell Physiology* 35, 425–437.

Sarker AM, Rahman MS and Paul NK. 1999. Effect of soil moisture on relative leaf water content, chlorophyll, proline and sugar accumulation in wheat. *Journal of Agronomy Crop Science* 183, pp. 225–229.

Schonfeld MA, Johnson RC, Carwer BF and Mornhinweg. 1988. Water relations n winter wheat as drought resistance indicators *Crop Science*, 28, pp. 526-531.

Sehrawat A, Abat JK and Deswal R. 2013. RuBisCO depletion improved proteome coverage of cold responsive S-nitrosylated targets in *Brassica juncea*. *Frontal Plant Science* 4, pp.342.

Sharma P and Dubey RS. 2005. Drought induces oxidative stress and enhances the activities of antioxidant enzymes in growing rice seedlings, *Plant Growth Regulation*, 46 (3), pp.209–221.

Sies H and Menck CFM 1992. Singlet oxygen induced DNA damage. *Mutation Resource./DNA - ging*. 275, pp.367–375.

Simova-Stoilova L, Demirevska K, Petrova T, Tsenov N and Feller U. 2009. Antioxidative protection and proteolytic activity in tolerant and sensitive wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) varieties subjected to long-term field drought. *Plant Growth Regulation* 58, pp. 107–117.

Skovsen E, Snyder JW, Lambert JDC and Ogilby PR. 2005. Lifetime and diffusion of singlet oxygen in a cell. *Journal of Physical Chemistry* B. 109, pp.8570–8573.

Smith BA, Reider ML and Fletcher JS. 1982. Relationship between vital staining and subculture growth during the senescence of plant tissue cultures. *Plant Physiology* 70, pp.1228-1230.

Smirnoff N. 1995. Antioxidant systems and plant response to the environment, in Environment and Plant Metabolism: Flexibility and Acclimation, Ed., 217–243, *Bios Scientific Publishers*, Oxford, UK.

Smirnoff N. 1993. The role of active oxygen in the response of plants to water deficit and desiccation. *New Phytology* 125, pp. 27–58.

Song L, Ding W, Zhao M, Sun B and Zhang L. 2006. Nitric oxide protects against oxidative stress under heat stress in the calluses from two ecotypes of reed. *Plant Science* 171, pp. 449–458.

Stadtman ER. 1986. Oxidation of proteins by mixed–function oxidation systems: implication in protein turnover, ageing and neutrophil function. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 11, pp. 11–12.

Strable J and Scanlon MJ. 2009. Maize (Zea mays): A Model Organism for Basic and Applied Research in Plant Biology. *Cold Spring Harbor Protocols*, 4(10).

Sullivan CY and Ross WM. 1979. Selecting for drought and heat resistance in grain sorghum. *Stress Physiology in Crop Plants*. John Wiley and Sons: 263-281.

Szabados L and Savoure A. 2010. Proline: a multifunctional amino acid. *Trends in Plant Science*, 15(2), pp. 89-97.

Takahashi MA and Asada K. 1983. Superoxide anion permeability of phospholipid membranes and chloroplast thylakoids. *Archae Biochemistry Biophysiology*. 1; 226, pp.558–566.

Tate EL and Gustard A. 2000. Drought definition: A hydrological perspective. In Drought and Drought Mitigation in Europe; Advances in Natural and Technological Hazards Research Volume 14; *Springer Science and Business Media*: Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp. 23–48.

Tanou G, Job C, Rajjou L, Arc E, Belghazi M and Diamantidis G. 2009. Proteomics reveals the overlapping roles of hydrogen peroxide and nitric oxide in the acclimation of citrus plants to salinity. *Plant Journal.* 60, pp. 795–804.

Tanou G, Molassiotis A and Diamantidis G. 2009. Induction of reactive oxygen species and necrotic death-like destruction in strawberry leaves by salinity, *Environmental and Experimental Botany* 65 (2-3), pp.270–281.

Torres MA and Dangl JL. 2005. Functions of the respiratory burst oxidase in biotic interactions, abiotic stress and development. *Current Opinion on Plant Biology*. 8, pp.397–403.

Uchida A, Jagendorf AT, Hibino T and Takabe T. 2002. Effects of hydrogen peroxide and nitric oxide on both salt and heat stress tolerance in rice. *Plant Science* 163, pp. 515–523.

UNEP 2004 Environmental Emergencies News. Disaster Management Branch, Division of Environmental Policy Implementation. DEPI 2: 2-4.

Valentovič P, Luxová M, Kolarovič L and Gašparíková O. 2006. Effect of osmotic stress on compatible solutes content, membrane stability and water relations in two maize cultivars. *Plant Soil Environment.* 52 (4), pp.186-191.

Van Breusegem F and Dat-JF. 2006 Reactive oxygen species in plant cell death. *Plant Physiol.* 141(384–390), p.106.

Valliyodan B and Nguyen HT. 2006. Understanding regulatory networks and engineering for enhanced drought tolerance in plants. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 9(2), pp.189-195.

Vemanna RS, Babitha KC, Solanki JK, Amarnatha Reddy V, Sarangi SK and Udayakumar M. 2017. Aldo-keto reductase-1 (AKR1) protects cellular enzymes from salt stress by detoxifying reactive cytotoxic compounds. *Plant Physiology Biochemistry* 113, pp. 177-186.

Verbruggen N and Hermans C. 2008 Proline accumulation in plants: *A Review. Amino Acids* 35(4), pp.753-759.

Vicente-Serrano SM, Begueria S, Eklundh L, Gimeno G, Weston D, Kenawy AE, Lopez-Moreno JI, Nieto R, Ayenew T and Konte D. 2012. Challenges for drought mitigation in Africa: The potential use of geospatial data and drought information systems. *Applied Geography.* 34, pp.471–486.

Vicente-Serrano SM, Gouveia C, Camarero JJ, Beguería S, Trigo R, López-Moreno JI, Azorín-Molina C, Pasho E, Lorenzo-Lacruz J and Revuelto J. 2013. The response of vegetation to drought time-scales across global land biomes. *Production of Natural Academic Science*. USA, 110, pp. 52–57.

Wilhite DA, Svoboda MD and Hayes MJ. 2007. Understanding the complex impacts of drought: A key to enhancing drought mitigation and preparedness. *Water Resource Management*, 21, pp. 763–774.

Wilhite DA and Glantz MH. 1985. Understanding the drought phenomenon. The role of definitions. *Water Int.* 10, pp.111–120.

Wilhite DA. 1993. Drought assessment, management, and planning: theory and case studies. In Natural Resource Management and Policy Series. Kluwer *Academic Publishers*: Dordrecht, The Netherlands.

Yesbergenova Z, Yang G, Oron E, Soffer D, Fluhr R and Sagi M. 2005. The plant mo-hydroxylases aldehyde oxidase and xanthine dehydrogenase have distinct reactive oxygen species signatures and are induced by drought and abscisic acid. *Plant Journal* 42, pp.862–876.

Yoon HS, Lee H, Lee IA and Kim KY. 2004. Molecular cloning of the monodehydroascorbate reductase gene from *Brassica campestris* and analysis of its mRNA level in response to oxidative stress. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1658, 181–186.

Zarepour M, Kaspari K, Stagge S, Rethmeier R, Mendel R, Bittner F. 2010. Xanthine dehydrogenase atxdh1 from Arabidopsis thaliana is a potent producer of superoxide anions via its NADPH oxidase activity. *Plant Molecular Biology*. 72, pp. 301–310.

Zemotjel T, Fröhlich A, Palmieri MC, Kolanczyk M, Mikula I, Wyrwicz LS, Wanker EE, Mundlos S, Vingron M, Martasek P, Durner J. 2006. Plant nitric oxide synthase: a never-ending story? *Trends in Plant Science* 11, pp.524–525.

Zeng CL, Liu L, Wang BR, Wu XM and Zhu Y. 2011. Physiological effects of exogenous nitric oxide on *Brassica juncea* seedlings under NaCl stress. *Biol. Plant*. 55, 345–348.

Zhao X, Nishimura Y, Fukumoto Y and Li J. 2011. Effect of high temperature on active oxygen species, senescence and photosynthetic properties in cucumber leaves. *Environmental Experiment of Botany.* 70, pp. 212–216.

Zhang A, Jiang M, Zhang J, Ding H, Xu S, Hu X and Tan M. 2007. Nitric oxide induced by hydrogen peroxide mediates abscisic acid-induced activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade involved in antioxidant defense in maize leaves. *New Phytologist* 175, pp. 36–50.

Zhang A, Jiang M, Zhang J, Tan M and Hu X. 2006. Mitogen-activated protein kinase is involved in abscisic acid-induced antioxidant defense and acts downstream of reactive oxygen species production in leaves of maize plants. *Plant Physiology* 141, pp. 475–487.

Zhao MG, Tian QY and Zhang WH. 2007. Nitric oxide synthase-dependent nitric oxide production is associated with salt tolerance in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology* 144, pp. 206–217.

Zhou B, Guo Z, Xing J and Huang B. 2005. Nitric oxide is involved in abscisic acid-induced antioxidant activities in *Stylosanthes guianensis*. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 56, pp. 3223–3228.

Zhu JK. 2002. Salt and drought stress signal transduction in plants. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 53, pp. 247–273.

Zlatko Stoyanov Z. 2005. Effects of water stress on leaf water relation of young bean. *Journal Century European Agriculture.*, 6, pp. 5-14.